
Intergovernmental Agreement-Final Page 1

INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT FOR
AN ADAPTIVE MANAGEMENT PLAN

FOR THE YAHARA WATERSHED

WHEREAS, Wis. Stat. § 66. 0301, entitled "Intergovernmental cooperation,"

provides that any municipality (defined as including but not limited to any state agency,

city, village, town, county, sanitary district, metropolitan sewerage district or sewer utility

district) may contract with other municipalities for the furnishing of services, and the joint

exercise of any power or duty required or authorized by law;

WHEREAS, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) has approved Total

Maximum Daily Loads for Total Phosphorus and Total Suspended Solids (TSS) in the

Rock River Basin (the “Rock River TMDL” or “TMDL”), which includes the Yahara

Watershed as shown on Exhibit A;

WHEREAS, municipalities who own Publicly Owned Treatment Works (POTWs)

and/or Municipal Separate Storm Sewer Systems (MS4s) in the Yahara Watershed are

required to meet surface water quality standards and/or not exceed wasteload allocations

for phosphorus and TSS pursuant to the provisions of Wis. Admin Code § NR 217 and/or

the Rock River TMDL;

WHEREAS, Wis. Admin Code § NR 217. 18 allows sources holding a Wisconsin

Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (WPDES) permit the option known as adaptive



Intergovernmental Agreement-Final Page 2

management which involves developing an Adaptive Management Plan involving point

and nonpoint sources to achieve water quality standards and TMDL allocations;

WHEREAS, Wis. Stat. § 283. 13 (7) allows adaptive management to be used to

address TMDL allocations for both phosphorus and TSS over four permit terms;

WHEREAS, in 2012 Madison Metropolitan Sewerage District (District) developed

an adaptive management pilot project with other interested parties within the Yahara

watershed as set forth in a Memorandum of Understanding for an Adaptive Management

Pilot Project in the Yahara Watershed;

WHEREAS, on December 14, 2014, the District entered into a Memorandum of

Understanding with the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (DNR) regarding the

manner in which a full scale Adaptive Management Plan for the Yahara Watershed would

be developed and evaluated;

WHEREAS, the District has committed to developing an Adaptive Management

Plan to fulfill its phosphorus compliance obligations under its WPDES permit and fulfill

the phosphorus TMDL obligations of other permittees;

WHEREAS, the undersigned municipalities within the Yahara Watershed, (Parties)

wish to join together to jointly participate in the Adaptive Management Plan;

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to create an intergovernmental agreement and form a

group known as "The Yahara Watershed Improvement Network (Yahara WINS) Group” or

simply "the Group";

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to create a commission that will administer such

participation, information gathering, projects and activities of the Group all as set forth in

this Agreement;



Intergovernmental Agreement-Final Page 3

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to implement this Agreement in a collaborative,

cooperative, manner to advance the Adaptive Management Plan;

WHEREAS, the Parties to this Agreement anticipate that the Group will contract

and work collaboratively with agricultural producers, non-governmental organizations,

county agencies and other entities to advance the Adaptive Management Plan;

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained and

other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby

acknowledged, the Parties agree to create this Intergovernmental Agreement for an

Adaptive Management Plan for the Yahara Watershed (“Agreement”) as follows:

1. GOALS OF THE GROUP.

The Parties hereby agree to cooperate to exercise their municipal powers jointly for:

a. Providing review and comments on the Adaptive Management Plan

prepared by the District;

b. Contracting with consultants, legal counsel, and other parties to

further the development, implementation and evaluation of the Adaptive Management Plan;

c. Coordinating or contracting with the DNR and other pertinent

agencies, units of local government, and non-governmental organizations and entities to

achieve the goals of the Adaptive Management Plan;

d. Pooling resources in accordance with the provisions of cost

allocations in Exhibit B to achieve the goals of the Adaptive Management Plan.

e. Achieving compliance with WPDES permit requirements related to

the Rock River TMDL.



Intergovernmental Agreement-Final Page 4

2. MEMBERS OF THE GROUP

a. In General. The members of the Group (“Members”) created by this

Agreement are the Wisconsin municipalities (defined as including but not limited to any

state agency, city, village, town, county, sanitary district, metropolitan sewerage district or

sewer utility district) who own Publicly Owned Treatment Works (POTWs) and/or

Municipal Separate Storm Sewer Systems (MS4s) or municipalities who have land within

areas served by the Adaptive Management Plan, and which have duly executed identical

counterparts or copies of the Agreement pursuant to Section 3 (“Members” collectively and

“Member” individually) on or before April 15, 2016.

b. Changes in Membership. Additional Wisconsin municipalities may

become Members of the Group with the consent of a majority of the Members by becoming

Parties to this Agreement on the condition that payments be made to cover their share of

costs based on their phosphorus allocation for the years from the date of this Agreement to

their membership date. Members may cease to be Members and Parties to this Agreement

pursuant to Section 12.

c. Representative to the Group. All Group Members shall designate a

representative and an alternate representative. A Member may remove or replace its

representative to the Group at will, with or without cause, at any time. All designations of

representatives, alternatives and replacements shall be made in writing, signed on behalf of

the Member and delivered to the Secretary of the Executive Committee. Each Member’s

representative shall have the authority to act on the Member’s behalf at meetings held

under Section 5.



Intergovernmental Agreement-Final Page 5

3. AUTHORITY OF MEMBERS TO PARTICIPATE.

a. This Agreement is entered into pursuant to authority granted under

Wis. Stat. § 66. 0301. Each municipality identified in Section 2. a. that wants to become

a member of the Group shall authorize participation in this Agreement by resolution or

other binding action by the governing body or person authorized to act for such

municipality.

b. By authorizing participation, each Member agrees to the terms and

conditions of this Agreement, to the establishment of the Executive Committee created by

this Agreement and to appoint a Member representative to the Group;

c. A copy of the document authorizing participation shall be sent to and

be maintained on file with the Executive Committee.

4. POWERS OF THE GROUP

The Group, acting through Group Member Representatives, shall have the following

powers:

a. To elect the members of the Executive Committee as set forth in

Section 6.

b. To approve the five-year and annual budgets under Section 8.

c. To approve the bylaws proposed by the Executive Committee.

d. To share information and advise the Executive Committee on all

matters including elements of the Adaptive Management Plan.

5. MEETINGS OF THE GROUP

a. The Group shall meet no less than four times per year.



Intergovernmental Agreement-Final Page 6

b. A quorum shall be a majority of the Group Member Representatives and

must include the representatives from the District and any other member who contributes at

least one fifth of the allocated cost under Exhibit B. If a quorum is not present the

members present may meet and share information, but no action may be taken.

c. Unless otherwise expressly provided by this Agreement, all votes of the

Group Member Representatives shall be by a majority of the Group Member

Representatives present at a meeting where there is a quorum.

d. All meetings shall be open meetings and require public notice in accordance

with Wisconsin’s open meeting laws. The Group shall encourage the participation of other

interested parties including agricultural producers and nongovernmental entities.

6. EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

a. Creation of Executive Committee. There is created a five member

Executive Committee which will be a commission under Wis. Stat. § 66. 0301(2) and (3),

to administer the joint activities of the Yahara WINS Group. This commission shall be

formally referred to as THE YAHARA WINS EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE, and referred

to in this Agreement as the "Executive Committee". This Executive Committee shall

operate as a governmental body under Wis. Stat. § 19. 82(1).

b. Members of the Executive Committee. The Executive Committee

shall be comprised of five Member representatives and two non-Member advisors.

(1) The Executive Committee members shall include a

representative from the Madison Metropolitan Sewerage District and a representative from

any Member, other than the District, who contributes at least one fifth of the allocated cost

under Exhibit B. Of the remaining members, one must be from a city or village, one from



Intergovernmental Agreement-Final Page 7

a town, and one will be an at large position. Member representatives for the cities and

villages participating in this agreement will vote to select their representative to the

Executive Committee, and Member representatives for the towns participating in this

agreement will vote to select their representative to the Executive Committee, and the

Member representatives of the group as a whole will vote to select the at large

representative.

(2) Recognizing the key collaborative roles played by Dane

County and members of the agricultural community in the Adaptive Management Pilot

Project and their anticipated roles as this Agreement moves forward, Dane County and the

Yahara Pride Farm Group may each appoint an advisor to the Executive Committee. The

Executive Committee may in its discretion appoint additional advisors. The advisors shall

be given notice of all Executive Committee meetings and may participate in such meetings

as non-voting members.

c. Term. The term of the three elected members of the Executive

Committee shall be for five year terms and the elected members may be reelected for one

or more additional terms.

d. Purposes and Powers of the Executive Committee.

(1) To make, amend and repeal bylaws and rules related to the

purpose and operation of the Group subject to approval by the Group.

(2) To invest funds not required for immediate disbursement in

properties or securities as permitted by state law.

(3) To make and execute contracts and other instruments of any

name or type necessary or convenient for the exercise of the powers granted herein,

including contracts with engineers, legal counsel, administrative staff and other consultants.



Intergovernmental Agreement-Final Page 8

(4) To accept contributions of capital from Members or third

parties.

(5) To do all acts and things necessary or convenient for the

conduct of its business and the general welfare of the Group and the Parties and to carry out

the purposes and powers granted to it by this Agreement.

(6) To sue, and be sued, complain and defend in all courts, and

also, appear in or before applicable governmental agencies administrative tribunals and

legislative bodies.

e. No Compensation. The members of the Executive Committee shall

serve without compensation, provided, however, that the Executive Committee shall have

discretion to reimburse members of the Executive Committee for reasonable expenses

incurred for special services to the Executive Committee.

f. Quorum. A quorum shall be a majority of the members of the

Executive Committee and must include the representative from the District and the

representative of any Member (other than the District) who contributes at least one fifth of

the allocated cost under Exhibit B. No action may be taken in the absence of a quorum.

g. Voting. The members of the Executive Committee shall vote upon

matters in the following manner:

(1) Voting in General. Unless otherwise expressly provided by

this Agreement, the bylaws, or some other subsequent action of the Executive Committee,

all votes shall be by a majority of the members of the Executive Committee present at a

meeting where there is a quorum.

(2) Voting on Matters Which May Affect WPDES Permit

Compliance. The Executive Committee shall provide written notice to all Members of any



Intergovernmental Agreement-Final Page 9

Executive Committee proposed or recommended action potentially affecting any Member’s

WPDES permit, other than the development and implementation of the Adaptive

Management Plan. Such actions include the following: (i) the development or

implementation of terms and conditions of a WPDES permit; (ii) a violation of a WPDES

permit, (iii) a WPDES permit modification or revocation (iv) a change in WPDES permit

limits or compliance plan; or (v) any other action that could jeopardize a Member’s

WPDES permit compliance. Any Member so notified has 30 days from the date of the

notice to provide a written objection to the Secretary of the Executive Committee to any

such actions that affect its WPDES permit. In such a case, no final action may be taken by

the Executive Committee without the further written consent of the objecting Member.

(h) Meeting. The Executive Committee shall meet no less frequently

than quarterly. Additional meetings may be held at the request of any member of the

Executive Committee.

7. OFFICERS.

a. Officers of the Executive Committee. The Officers of the Executive

Committee are a President, a Vice-President, a Secretary, a Treasurer and such other

Officers as the Executive Committee may designate. The President shall be the District

representative. The Vice-President, Secretary, Treasurer and any other officers shall be

elected by the members of the Executive Committee from among the members of the

Executive Committee and shall serve five year terms.

b. Dual Signature Required. The signatures of two officers shall be

required on all forms of approval for payment, and all legally binding documents executed

in the name of the Executive Committee or the Group.



Intergovernmental Agreement-Final Page 10

c. Duties. Unless otherwise determined by the Executive Committee,

the duties of the officers shall include the following:

(1) President. The President shall be the principal executive

officer of the Executive Committee, shall preside at all meetings of the Executive

Committee and set the agenda.

(2) Vice-President. In the absence of the President, or in the

event of his or her inability or refusal to act, the Vice-President shall perform the duties of

the President.

(3) Secretary. The Secretary shall keep minutes of the meetings

of the Executive Committee in one or more books provided for that purpose; see that all

notices are duly given in accordance with this Agreement, or as required by law; and be

custodian of the Executive Committee's records. The Secretary shall take such actions as

are prudent and necessary to maintain the public records at the offices of the District in

accordance with Wisconsin’s public records laws.

(4) Treasurer. The Treasurer shall have charge and custody of

and be responsible for all funds and securities of the Group and shall have charge of the

financial records of the Group. The Treasurer will work with District staff to set up a

segregated account for the funds of the Group. The Treasurer shall take such actions as are

prudent and necessary to maintain the public records at the offices of the District in

accordance with Wisconsin’s public records laws.

d. Removal. An officer other than the President may be removed from

office with cause upon a majority vote of the members of the Executive Committee.



Intergovernmental Agreement-Final Page 11

8. BUDGET

The Executive Committee shall prepare budget documents as follows:

a. Project Budget. The 20 year adaptive management cost to Members

and the associated annual cost are listed in Exhibit B to this Agreement.

b. Five Year Budget. The Executive Committee shall break down the

20 year adaptive management costs into five year intervals corresponding with the

estimated permit terms. The Five Year Budget shall be approved by a majority of the

Member Representatives present in the meeting of the Group in which action on the Project

Budget is taken. The Five Year Budget shall be updated no less than every five years and

approved by the Group. Estimated project costs shall be allocated equally over the 20 year

Adaptive Management Plan period to the extent practicable.

c. Annual Budget. The Executive Committee shall prepare a detailed

annual budget of the estimated expenditures associated with the Adaptive Management

Plan for the next calendar year, and present the annual budget to the Group for review no

later than September 30th of each year. The annual budget shall be consistent with the Five

Year Budget approved in Section 8 (b), and shall be approved by October 31st of each year

by a majority of the Member Representatives of the Group present at the meeting in which

action on the annual budget is taken. The Executive Committee shall send invoices to

Members consistent with the annual cost shown in Exhibit B, subject to any revision

consistent with Section 9 of this Agreement on or before December 15 of each year. The

first invoice under this Agreement will be sent to Members on or before December 15,

2016 and will be for the calendar year 2017. Invoices will be sent to Members annually

thereafter on or before December 15th of each year. Payments based on each annual

invoice shall be made in two equal installments. The first installment shall be made on or



Intergovernmental Agreement-Final Page 12

before February 28th of each year and the second installment shall be made on or before

June 30th of each year.

d. Funds for 2016 are based on a continuation of annual payments

made by the participants to the Adaptive Management Pilot Project at the same funding

level as 2015. The Executive Committee shall receive any such payments to further the

purposes of this Agreement and subject to the audit and reporting requirements set forth in

Section 10.

9. CHARGES TO MEMBERS.

a. Costs shall be allocated among Members as shown in Exhibit B,

except as otherwise provided in this Section. Cost allocations in Exhibit B are based on

phosphorus load reductions and are determined by multiplying the total adaptive

management project cost by the fraction of the total pounds of required project phosphorus

reduction needed by each Member to meet its TMDL allocation under current conditions.

For example, if the required phosphorus reduction of an individual member is equal to 5

percent of the total pounds of phosphorus reduction from all sources in this adaptive

management project, that member is assigned 5 percent of the total project cost. For the

purpose of Exhibit B, required phosphorus reductions were determined as follows:

(1) Point Source Members: For the purpose of this section,

Point Source Members are those members who own or operate facilities identified in

Appendices P, Q, R and S of the Rock River TMDL. The required phosphorus reduction is

determined by subtracting the TMDL allocated phosphorus load from the current condition

phosphorus load, with the current condition phosphorus load defined as the most recent

five year average load (2010 thru 2014) using data obtained from the DNR. For all Point



Intergovernmental Agreement-Final Page 13

Source Members, the allocated phosphorus load is consistent with the allocation specified

in the TMDL. For Point Source Members that own or operate POTWs, required

phosphorus reductions also factor in the need to meet the interim concentration limits

specified in Section 14 (b).

(2) MS4 Members: For the purpose of this section MS4

Members are those Members who own Municipal Separate Storm Sewer Systems as

identified in Appendices T, U, and V of the Rock River TMDL, except that the University

of Wisconsin-Madison shall also be considered an MS4 Member. The required

phosphorus reduction for MS4 Members is determined by subtracting the TMDL allocated

phosphorus load from the TMDL baseline phosphorus load.

b. Members shall commit to payment in accordance with the schedule
in Exhibit B.

c. Notwithstanding Exhibit B, it is recognized that MS4 Members may

update stormwater modeling consistent with the DNR guidance document titled “TMDL

Guidance for MS4 Permits: Planning, Implementation and Modeling Guidance” (October

20, 2014). If the updated modeling is reviewed and approved by DNR, and shows a

required annual phosphorus reduction that is different than what was used to develop the

cost allocation in Exhibit B, the cost for that MS4 Member in Exhibit B will be adjusted as

follows:

Exhibit B Cost x Revised phosphorus reduction (lbs/yr) =  Revised Cost
Initial phosphorus reduction (lbs/yr)



Intergovernmental Agreement-Final Page 14

If the revised phosphorus reduction information is received by the Executive Committee on

or before September 1st of any year, the revised cost will be applied to all years going

forward. For example, if data is received on or before September 1, 2017 that results in a

revised cost being calculated, that revised cost will be applied to annual payments

beginning in 2018. Additionally, a true-up will be allowed at the end of every five year

WPDES permit term to reflect practices that may have been added during that WPDES

permit term that result in a revised phosphorus reduction and therefore a revised cost,

provided those reductions are in excess of the baseline reductions in Section 14 (a).

Revised costs would be calculated using the above formula and would be applied to annual

payments going forward.

d. If an MS4 makes an initial payment in 2017 based on Exhibit B and

subsequently submits information that results in a revised cost that is less than shown in

Exhibit B, the amount of overpayment shall be credited to the MS4 over the next four year

period in equal annual installments. If an MS4 makes an initial payment in 2017 based on

Exhibit B and subsequently submits information that results in a revised cost that is greater

than shown in Exhibit B, the underpayment shall be recovered from the MS4 over the next

four year period in equal annual installments.

e. Notwithstanding Exhibit B, the costs for Point Source Members will

be revised at the end of 2016 using the most recent five year phosphorus load averaging

period if it is different than the averaging period used in developing the cost allocations in

Exhibit B. The cost will be adjusted as follows:

Exhibit B Cost x Revised phosphorus reduction (lbs/yr) = Revised Cost
Initial phosphorus reduction (lbs/yr)



Intergovernmental Agreement-Final Page 15

The revised cost will be applied to the years going forward. Additionally, a recalculation

of the phosphorus load will be made at the end of every five year WPDES permit term

using the most recent five year average and will be used to calculate a revised cost, which

will be applied to annual payments for the years going forward. The revised cost will be

calculated using the formula in this section.

f. MS4 Members and Point Source Members participating in this

agreement may choose to accomplish some of their TMDL required phosphorus reduction

independently and therefore “purchase” only a portion of their required phosphorus

reduction through adaptive management. In this case, the Exhibit B cost or the Revised

Cost (whichever is applicable) will be adjusted by multiplying it by the fraction of the

required phosphorus reduction that is purchased through adaptive management. For

example if an MS4 Member or Point Source Member purchases ninety-five percent of its

required phosphorus load through adaptive management, the cost would be revised as

follows:

Exhibit B Cost or Revised cost (whichever is applicable) x 0. 95 = Adjusted Cost

g. MS4 Members and Point Source Members choosing to purchase

only a portion of their required phosphorus reduction through adaptive management agree

that they must have a plan in place to accomplish the portion not purchased. The plan

should identify significant anticipated milestones. In addition, they agree to provide a

summary to the Group at a frequency of at least once every two years specifying progress

made in achieving the reductions not accomplished through adaptive management.



Intergovernmental Agreement-Final Page 16

MS4 Members and Point Source Members shall specify at the time they execute this

agreement the portion of their required phosphorus reduction, expressed in pounds per

year, which they will accomplish independently. The adaptive management project costs

will be reviewed at least 360 days prior to the end of a five-year WPDES permit term for

which the Adaptive Management Plan is a permit condition. The costs may be adjusted

based on this review and upon approval by a majority of the Members. Adjustments (if

any) may result in either a lower or higher charge to members going forward. Adjustments

(if any) in the charge to Members will be made at the start of the next five-year WPDES

permit term and will be made proportional to the required phosphorus reduction of

Members. Adjustments will be reflected in the Five Year Budget under Section 8.

10. AUDIT AND REPORTING

a. The Executive Committee shall arrange for a financial audit of the

Group’s financial records on an annual basis by an independent accounting firm using

generally accepted accounting principles.

b. The Executive Committee shall prepare an annual report and provide

it to all Members and to other government agencies as may be required. In addition to

containing financial information, the annual report shall describe activities undertaken and

progress made over the preceding year with respect to implementation of the Adaptive

Management Plan. The annual report shall review the effectiveness of the measures

undertaken as part of the Adaptive Management Plan and to the extent possible document

the amount of phosphorus reduced by each of the project elements implemented under this



Intergovernmental Agreement-Final Page 17

Adaptive Management Plan. The annual report shall be distributed to the Group and

published on the Group’s website by June 30th of each year.

11. LIABILITY OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE AND/OR GROUP.

a. In the event any costs or expenses are imposed on the Group or the

Executive Committee as a result of any judicial or administrative proceeding or settlement

thereof, and the liability is not directly attributable to the conduct of a specific Member or

Members, the costs and expenses shall be treated as a cost of the Group to be allocated

among all Members proportional to the phosphorus reduction associated with each Member

as determined consistent with this Agreement.

b. If any costs or expenses are imposed on the Group or the Executive

Committee as a result of any judicial or administrative proceeding or settlement thereof,

and the liability is directly attributable to the conduct of a specific Member or Members,

the costs and expenses shall be allocated among those Members whose actions caused the

imposition of the costs or expenses to the Group or Executive Committee, in proportion to

their responsibility as determined by the presiding official of the judicial or administrative

proceeding, or if no such determination, by the Executive Committee. Any member of the

Executive Committee who represents a Member with an interest in the determination shall

recuse themselves from all participation on the Executive Committee as to that issue. Any

Member not satisfied with the decision of the Executive Committee can request the issue

be resolved through mediation. The costs of mediation are to be borne equally by each

Member to the mediation.



Intergovernmental Agreement-Final Page 18

12. TERM OF AGREEMENT AND WITHDRAWAL.

a. The term of this Agreement shall begin on April 15, 2016 and will

generally coincide with the term of the approved Adaptive Management Plan which is

anticipated to be approximately 20 years from approval.

b. This Agreement shall terminate upon conclusion of the Adaptive

Management Plan or termination of the Adaptive Management Plan if the Adaptive

Management Plan is terminated by DNR. This Agreement may also be terminated at a

duly noticed meeting of the Group, upon a two thirds vote by Member Representatives of

the Group to terminate the Agreement, at least 270 days prior to the end of a WPDES

permit term for which the Adaptive Management Plan is a permit condition. In no event

shall termination become effective prior to the end of a WPDES permit term.

c. An individual Member may withdraw from the Agreement by

providing notice at least 270 days prior to the end of a five-year WPDES permit term for

which the Adaptive Management Plan is a permit condition, if the Member has paid its

contribution for the five year WPDES permit period.

13. ADAPTIVE MANAGEMENT ADMINISTRATION

a. The Adaptive Management Plan shall be prepared by the District.

The purpose of the Adaptive Management Plan when implemented is to fulfill the

phosphorus TMDL obligations of Members, after accounting for baseline requirements that

Members are required to meet individually pursuant to Section 14, and after accounting for

adjustments that may be made pursuant to Section 9. TSS reductions associated with

phosphorus reduction practices will also be quantified as part of the Adaptive Management

Plan. If this Agreement is in effect prior to the submittal of the Adaptive Management



Intergovernmental Agreement-Final Page 19

Plan to DNR by the District, then the District shall submit the Adaptive Management Plan

to the Group for review and comment at least 60 days prior to District submittal to DNR.

b. Every five years as the WPDES permits come up for renewal, the

District will prepare any amendment to the Adaptive Management Plan necessary to

achieve the project goals and approval by the DNR. The District shall submit any Adaptive

Management Plan amendments to the Group for review and comment at least 90 days prior

to District submittal to DNR.

c. The District shall be responsible for administration and management

of the Adaptive Management Plan and related activities, including contract management.

The District will also serve as the primary contract laboratory for analysis of routine

parameters (e. g. phosphorus, TSS, and nitrogen) from water samples collected as part of

the adaptive management project, and can recover associated analytical costs from the

Group.

14. ADAPTIVE MANAGEMENT PERMITTEE PROVISIONS

a. All MS4 Members participating in this Agreement are individually

responsible for meeting the TMDL baseline conditions for sediment (TSS) and phosphorus

control. The baseline condition for MS4 Members is 40% TSS control and 27%

phosphorus control. These reductions must be achieved within each stream reach that

they discharge to as identified in the TMDL. Trading with another MS4 member located

within the same stream reach that has exceeded the baseline condition can be used to meet

the baseline condition, but trade agreements are the responsibility of the participating

Members and are not addressed directly through this Agreement.



Intergovernmental Agreement-Final Page 20

b. All POTWs participating in this Agreement are required to meet an

annual average effluent phosphorus concentration of 0.6 mg/L by the end of the first full

WPDES permit term following implementation of the DNR approved Adaptive

Management Plan, and an annual average effluent concentration of 0.5 mg/L by the end of

the second full WPDES permit term following implementation of the DNR approved

Adaptive Management Plan.

c. In the event the Adaptive Management Plan is terminated by DNR

prior to the end of the original term of the Adaptive Management Plan, or if at the end of

the adaptive management period DNR determines that the phosphorus and sediment (TSS)

allocations identified in the TMDL have not been met for a stream reach, Members will be

individually responsible for taking any additional steps needed to achieve compliance with

phosphorus and sediment (TSS) reduction requirements in their WPDES permits. This

could include converting to a water quality trading program that is consistent with

applicable DNR guidance. Verifiable phosphorus and sediment (TSS) reductions or

“credits” achieved through the adaptive management project will be distributed to

Members proportionate to the Charges to Members under Section 9 of this Agreement, but

use in a water quality trading program is subject to applicable DNR guidance.

d. In the event municipal boundaries change during the term of this

Agreement, as land transfers from one municipality to another, the associated phosphorus

load reduction and the associated payment responsibility also transfers to the new

municipality.

e. Upon completion or termination of the adaptive management project,

any funds remaining in the segregated account for the Group following payment of all



Intergovernmental Agreement-Final Page 21

project expenses, shall be returned to members of the Group in direct proportion to the

contribution made by each member of the Group.

15. NONDISCRIMINATION

In the performance of services under this Agreement, the Parties agree not to

discriminate against any employee or applicant because of race, religion, marital status, age

color, sex handicap, national origin or ancestry, income level or source of income, arrest

record or conviction record, less than honorable discharge, physical appearance, sexual

orientation, gender identity, political beliefs, or student status.

16. MISCELLANEOUS

a. Municipal Liability. Nothing in this Agreement shall constitute a

waiver of any limitations on municipal or state agency liability that may exist as a matter of

law, including but not limited to limitations in Wis. Stat. ch. 893.

b. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts,

and the signatures of each party on separate copies of the Agreement shall be fully effective

to bind each of them to the Agreement with any other party that signs any separate copy of

the Agreement.

c. Entire Agreement. This Agreement supersedes any prior studies,

memoranda, letters or oral discussions or understandings about the participation of any of

the Members in this joint project. This Agreement represents the entire agreement of the

Parties as to organization and the goals of the Group.



Intergovernmental Agreement-Final Page 22

d. Amendment or Modification. No amendment or modification may

be made to this Agreement except in writing signed by a two thirds majority of all

Members.

e. Choice of Law. This Agreement shall, in general, be governed by

and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Wisconsin.

f. Exclusive Benefit. This Agreement is for the exclusive benefit of

the Parties and their successors in interest and shall not be deemed to give any legal or

equitable right, remedy or claim to any other entity or person.

g. No Joint Venture. This Agreement does not establish or evidence a

Joint Venture or partnership between the Parties. No Party is liable for another Party's

actions as a result of entering into this Agreement.

h. Succession. All the terms, provisions and conditions herein

contained shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the Parties and their respective

successors and assigns, including future governing bodies of the respective Members.

i. Notice. Any notice required or given under this Agreement shall be

effective if mailed by U. S. mail, postage prepaid, to the representatives at the addresses

set forth after the signatures below, or any substituted address or representative as is filed

with the Secretary of the Executive Committee.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties, by their duly authorized representatives,

have executed this Agreement on the dates set forth below:





Intergovernmental Agreement-Final Page 24

Exhibit A:  Map of the Yahara Watershed



Intergovernmental Agreement-Final Page 25



Intergovernmental Agreement-Final Page 26

Exhibit B:  Preliminary Cost Allocations
(Note: Section 9 outlines how preliminary costs can be adjusted)



Yahara WINs Watershed Adaptive Management Project

Frequently Asked Questions

1. Can adaptive management be used by a Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System (MS4) as a Total
Maximum Daily Load (TMDL) compliance strategy?
Yes, adaptive management can be used as a TMDL compliance strategy by MS4s. This is acknowledged
in a December 2014 Memorandum of Understanding between the Madison Metropolitan Sewerage
District (MMSD) and the Department of Natural Resources (DNR) regarding the adaptive management
project. In addition, the general stormwater permit issued by DNR in April 2014 acknowledges that
MS4s may meet their TMDL required reductions by entering into an agreement to participate in an
adaptive management project. The Madison Area Municipal Storm Water Partnership (MAMSWaP)
permit is expected to contain similar language when it is reissued. Finally, the October 2014 DNR
guidance document titled “TMDL Guidance for MS4 Permits: Planning, Implementation, and Modeling
Guidance” acknowledges that MS4s can participate in an adaptive management project to meet their
TMDL required reductions.

2. How was the overall phosphorus reduction for the adaptive management project determined?
The overall phosphorus reduction is based on meeting the TMDL phosphorus allocations for the Yahara
Watershed from all sources. These sources include wastewater treatment plants and other point
sources, communities identified as owning MS4s, and nonpoint sources (e.g. agriculture).

As a placeholder for MS4s, the estimated phosphorus reductions were determined by subtracting the
baseline pounds from the allocated pounds using information from the Rock River TMDL.  This
information is contained in Appendix V of the Rock River TMDL document.

The 2014 DNR TMDL guidance identifies an alternate approach that can be used to calculate
phosphorus load reductions, called the percent reduction approach. To use this approach, accurate
information needs to be provided by each municipal entity on the acres of urbanized land within their
MS4 permitted area, the phosphorus load associated with that area assuming no stormwater controls,
and the current level of phosphorus control associated with that area.  To obtain the data needed for
the percent reduction approach, many participants are updating their stormwater models.

In some cases, there may be a significant difference between the two methods for calculating the
required load reduction with the percent reduction approach likely resulting in a lower load reduction
requirement. MMSD has encouraged all pilot project participants to take steps to ensure that the best
information is being used to calculate load reductions. The updated information will be used to adjust
the phosphorus loads for MS4s and for the project as a whole when the information needed for the
alternate approach is provided to MMSD and the information is confirmed by DNR.

3. How will DNR determine whether MS4s have met their TMDL required reductions for phosphorus
and sediment?
The method that DNR will use for determining MS4 compliance with the TMDL is defined in the  October
2014 DNR guidance document titled “TMDL Guidance for MS4 Permits: Planning, Implementation, and
Modeling Guidance.” This guidance specifies that TMDL compliance for MS4s will be determined using
the percent reduction approach. The adaptive management project is being designed to achieve the
percent reductions required by all participating MS4s.



4. What happens if a point source or an MS4 community decides not to participate in the adaptive
management project?
If a point source or an MS4 community decides not to participate in the adaptive management project,
they will be required to meet their TMDL phosphorus allocation independently. The phosphorus
reduction associated with the adaptive management project will therefore be adjusted accordingly.

5. How was the overall cost estimate for adaptive management developed?
The approach used to develop the overall cost estimate is briefly described in Attachment 1.

6. How was the cost for each participating entity determined?
The cost for each participating entity is directly related to the phosphorus reduction needed by that
entity to meet its TMDL phosphorus allocation. For example, if the phosphorus reduction associated
with an individual MS4 is 300 lbs/year and the total pounds targeted in the adaptive management
project is 100,000 lbs/yr, the reduction attributable to that MS4 is 0.3% of the total pounds. The MS4 in
this example would be assigned 0.3% of the adaptive management cost.

7. The cost associated with potential adaptive management participants as shown in Exhibit B of the
Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) seems high relative to similarly sized or located municipal
entities. How were these costs determined?
The IGA includes a placeholder or estimated cost for potential participants. The cost is directly
proportional to the phosphorus load reduction required for each participant to meet its TMDL required
phosphorus allocation for discharges to the Yahara Watershed.

As noted earlier, in some cases, there may be a significant difference between the TMDL allocation and
the alternate percent reduction approach. The percent reduction approach will likely result in a lower
phosphorus reduction requirement. The IGA contains a straightforward process to adjust the load
reduction and the related cost when the information needed for the alternate percent reduction
approach for determining phosphorus load reduction is provided and the information is confirmed by
DNR.

8. If an entity decides not to participate in the full-scale adaptive management project, will the cost to
those remaining entities in the adaptive management project be adjusted upward?
No, the cost to remaining entities will not change.

9. Are point sources and MS4s picking up the cost of the phosphorus reductions required from the
nonpoint sector?
No. Point sources and MS4s are not picking up the nonpoint portion of adaptive management costs.
The cost to any point source or MS4 participating in the adaptive management project is based solely
on the phosphorus load reduction that is required of that entity to meet its phosphorus allocation for
the TMDL. Costs associated with achieving the required nonpoint load reductions come from a variety
of sources.  Examples include cost share funding made available through the Clean Lakes Alliance, Dane
County, and various state and federal farm programs.  In addition, many producers are making
investments in conservation practices in the absence of cost share funding.



10. Could DNR revise the TMDL at some future date to require additional phosphorus reductions?
The TMDL is designed to identify the load reductions needed to meet water quality standards. If the
required load reductions are met then water quality criteria should be attained. It is always possible
that the TMDL could be revised if the allocations are met but the impairments related to phosphorus
and/or sediment remain or if further reductions were made to the water quality criteria for phosphorus.
This is true regardless of whether or not adaptive management is used as a TMDL compliance strategy.

11. How are MS4s that are also District customers financially impacted by the TMDL from a wastewater
perspective?
MS4s that are also District customers are financially impacted by the TMDL in two ways.  First, they
have the direct cost of addressing their stormwater discharge. Second, they have the indirect costs
associated with the compliance strategy selected by the District to address wastewater, since costs
incurred by the District are passed on to customer communities. The District has evaluated its cost of
complying with its TMDL allocation through treatment at its Nine Springs Plant vs. addressing
phosphorus through adaptive management.

12. Can you provide a comparison of the wastewater compliance costs that would be passed along to
District customers with each compliance strategy?
A comparison is shown in Attachment 2. The total annual savings to customer communities is estimated
to be $6,688,000.

13. Has the timeline for moving forward with the adaptive management changed?
The timeline has not changed. The goal is to transition from the pilot project, which ends on December
31, 2015, to a full-scale adaptive management project as soon as possible to capitalize on the
momentum gained from the pilot project. The current schedule calls for 2016 to be a transition year to
address administrative and planning tasks. These include development and DNR approval of the
adaptive management plan, and execution of an Intergovernmental Agreement to support the full-
scale project. Phosphorus reduction and water quality monitoring efforts will continue during the
transition year. The full scale project will start in 2017.



Attachment 1

Adaptive Management Cost/Implementation Model Fact Sheet

An adaptive management cost/implementation model was developed to estimate the cost associated with
implementing an adaptive management project in the Yahara Watershed. The cost/implementation model is
briefly described below.

Model Inputs
The model contains multiple inputs. To the maximum extent possible, modeled inputs are based on actual
experience gained through work in the Yahara Watershed. Some of the significant model inputs include the
following:

 Phosphorus management practices and associated phosphorus reduction (lbs./year).
 Practice shelf life (e.g. how long the practice will remain in place and functioning following installation).
 Practice cost by unit (e.g. per acre of cover crop).
 Staff cost by practice for implementation.
 Phosphorus reduction requirements by TMDL stream reach.
 Ramp up period to achieve phosphorus reductions and interim targets.
 Anticipated staffing efficiencies in delivering phosphorus reduction practices during the life of the

adaptive management project.
 Water quality monitoring cost.
 Inflation factor (2.4% annual inflation factor was used in the model).

Dane County Land and Water Resources Department (DCLWRD) staff inventoried all conservation practices
that were installed in the Yahara Watershed for the period of 2008-2012. The list was broken down by TMDL
stream reach. DCLWRD staff categorized practices by type (Engineering vs. Management), and calculated the
estimated phosphorus reduction for each practice. DCLWRD staff also estimated the amount of staff time that
it typically takes for practice implementation, including landowner contacts, planning, design, and practice
implementation.

The designed life expectancy or “shelf life” of each practice was identified, along with the practice cost and the
cost per pound of phosphorus reduced. Where practice cost for a given practice varied, the practice cost used
in the model was conservatively set at the highest practice cost. DCLWRD staff then used this information to
develop a suite of phosphorus-reducing practices by stream reach for the full-scale adaptive management
project. The suite of practices used in the cost model is not identical to the historic suite of practices, as some
preference was given to practices with longer designed life expectancies. In addition, in some cases it was
assumed that the designed life expectancy could be extended through contractual agreements.

Model Outputs
The model outputs include:

 Total project cost and annual costs, both with and without inflation.
 The cost per pound of phosphorus reduced.
 Annual phosphorus reduction (pounds) by stream reach based on total project phosphorus reductions

and ramp-up periods.



The model designates phosphorus reductions as either “new” or “carry-over” pounds of phosphorus over the
20-year adaptive management period. This distinction is needed for accounting and tracking purposes. For
example, if a practice has an effective shelf life of 10 years and results in an annual phosphorus reduction of
100 lbs/year, the pounds in the first year are considered “new,” while the pounds in the remaining year are
considered as “carry-over.”

The model contains phosphorus reduction goals by TMDL stream reach and year, and uses a 17-year ramp-up
period to accomplish 100% of the phosphorus reductions needed to meet the TMDL allocations for all
sources/source categories in the Yahara Watershed. The model also includes funding to support water quality
monitoring activities associated with the adaptive management project.



Attachment 2

Cost Estimates For Additional Wastewater Treatment Costs Associated With
Phosphorus Compliance That Would Potentially Be Passed On To MMSD Customer Communities (1)















 

  1 

Memorandum 

To: Finance Committee 

From: Karl Frantz 

Date: 2/19/2016 

Re:      Purchase of Accounting Software 

Executive Summary 
Staff recommends the purchase of the Civic Systems Clarity software accounting package 
including conversion and training at a cost of $39,000 paid out of the Capital Fund over a three 
year time period at no interest. ($13,000 per year) 
  
Background 
The Village Capital Plan and 2015 borrowing included the purchase of a new accounting 
package. The software required includes accounts payable, accounts receivable, cash receipting, 
fixed assets, general ledger, payroll and utility billing. Currently the Village uses Civic System’s 
Classic accounting program. The proposed switch is to its enhanced Clarity programs. The major 
reasons for the purchase are: 
 

1. The Classic system accounting software is not receiving further upgrades or 
enhancements. Civic is phasing it out.  

a. We have been using this software package for over 15 years. 
2. The Classic system is based on an Access data base. There are  security issues with the 

Access data base and the Village auditors annual “Communication To Those Charged 
with Governance and Management” states as follows: 
Information Technology System Internal Controls 

“The village’s present software system lacks certain security features that, if operated improperly 
would not allow for the identification of changes made to financial data after the original entry of 
such data. This is a control weakness that exists in many database software packages, including 
Microsoft Access which is the basis for your software. Many of the system users may not 
possess the technical knowledge to operate the system in a manner that would impair the 
system’s control integrity. However, it is possible that some users may possess the knowledge to 
circumvent the system’s controls.” 
 
The conversion to Clarity will eliminate that comment from the annual internal controls findings 
in its entirety. Clarity software uses a SQL data base. Other comparably priced software 



  February 19, 2016 

  2 

packages that are used in Wisconsin by smaller municipalities are also using the Access data 
base, specifically Banyon and Workhorse. 
 
           3. A new more robust system with additional capabilities will be beneficial.  

 
For instance we will be able to export data into Excel spreadsheets or Word documents without 
having to reenter the data. This will be especially useful during the annual budget process, but 
will also be very helpful to the staff to create and maintain Excel spreadsheets for analytic work 
and to track and group certain activities. 
 
A new module will allow department heads limited access to query accounts they are responsible 
for and track them without having to know the ins and outs of how to use the entire accounting 
package. Presently they have to periodically ask for these reports to be generated. The ability to 
create user friendly reports and graphics to the Village Board and Finance Committee will also 
be enhanced. 
 
Utility payments will be able to be made via ACH and also made on a recurring automatic basis 
with no charge to the customer if they so choose. 
 
This software is relied upon and used by the Village Clerk and Deputy Clerk for the vast 
majority of their workday and is a backbone to Village operations. We hope to provide our staff 
the best tools we can to do their jobs. This conversion will accomplish that. The product is 
designed for small to medium sized municipalities as opposed to systems that can cost much 
more for larger cities; the software offers specialized features for municipal accounting that off 
the shelf products like Quickbooks cannot provide.  
 
Civic System software is used by over 200 municipalities in Wisconsin.   This change would 
continue the Village relationship with Civic Systems and is a conversion from one software 
package (Classic) to a new one (Clarity).  We have been very pleased with the technical support 
we have received from Civic Systems and wish to continue that relationship.  
 
The $39,000 pricing is the result of a few rounds of negotiations.  The existing software was 
utilized by the Village for 15 – 16 years. A similar lifespan for this package amortizes at $2,600 
per year. There will be an increase in the annual support costs of $1,480 due to the new modules 
we are adding. 
 
  
 



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Computer Software and  
Conversion Services Proposal 

Village of Shorewood Hills 

Prepared by Civic Systems, LLC 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
A SUBSIDIARY OF BAKER TILLY VIRCHOW KRAUSE, LLP 

Civic Systems, LLC 
Ten Terrace Court 

P.O. Box 7398 
Madison, WI  53707-7398 

Phone:  888.241.1517 
Fax:   608.249.1050 

mlaesch@civicsystems.com 
www.civicsystems.com 

 
February 15, 2016 

 
 



 

 

Software Purchase Agreement 

A SUBSIDIARY OF BAKER TILLY 
VIRCHOW KRAUSE, LLP 

 

 

Civic Systems, LLC Village of Shorewood Hills 
Ten Terrace Court 810 Shorewood Blvd 
P.O. Box 7398 Madison, WI  53705 
Madison, WI  53707-7398  

 
You agree to purchase the software and services detailed below and Civic Systems, LLC agrees 
to provide them.  A down payment of $13,000 is due upon execution of the contract with 
$13,000 due in January of 2017 and the remaining $13,000 due in January of 2018.  The 
information provided in this proposal is valid for 90 days.  
 

   

 INVESTMENT SUMMARY  
     
   Clarity License Fees (4 Concurrent Users)   $ 44,500 
      Less Clarity Upgrade Discount   (24,250) 

     Conversion/Setup    2,500 
     Training        7,200 
   New Module License Fees              9,500 
      Less: Negotiated Discount            (2,850) 

     Conversion/Setup              1,200 
     Training              1,200 

   
     TOTAL INVESTMENT $ 39,000 

 
    ANNUAL SUPPORT INCREASE $ 1,480 

      
 

*Above amounts do not include travel costs.  Travel costs are invoiced at 
$0.56 per mile round trip and actual costs for hotel (Holiday Inn or 
equivalent) and meals (max of $35 daily). 

 
SIGNATURE AGREEMENT 

The signatures below indicate each party’s acceptance and understanding of the 
Computer Software and Services Contract, Attachment A – Caselle Software 
Distribution Agreement, and Attachment B – Civic Support Agreement. 

 
 

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD HILLS 

  
 Signature:        

 Title:         

 Date:         

  

 CIVIC SYSTEMS, LLC  

  
 Signature:         

 Title:         

 Date:         



 

 

Software Purchase Agreement 

A SUBSIDIARY OF BAKER TILLY 
VIRCHOW KRAUSE, LLP 

 

 

 



 

 

A SUBSIDIARY OF BAKER TILLY 
VIRCHOW KRAUSE, LLP 

 

 

Selected Modules Detailed Costs 

LICENSE FEES (4 CONCURRENT USERS) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Clarity Upgrade Modules 
License 

Fee  
Conversion/ 

Setup 
Training 

Cost 
Total 

Investment 

Based on 4 Concurrent User Licenses  $         0 $         0 $         0 $           0           

Accounts Payable 5,500 Included   600 6,100 

     miExcel AP (P-Card Interface) 1,000 Included Included 1,000 

Accounts Receivable 5,500 Included 1,200 6,700 

Cash Receipting 5,500 Included 600 6,100 

Fixed Assets 3,300 Included 600 3,900 

General Ledger 5,500 Included 1,200 6,700 
     Activity Reporting Included Included Included Included 
     Bank Rec Included Included Included Included 
     Budgeting Included Included Included Included 

Payroll 9,000 Included 1,200 10,200 
  Direct Deposit Included Included Included Included 
  Magnetic W-2’s Included Included Included Included 

Utility Billing 9,200 Included 1,800 11,000 
  Electronic Read Interface Included Included Included Included 

  Splitter  Included Included Included Included 
  Tax Certification Included Included Included Included 

Conversion And Setup Estimates Included 2,500 Included Included 
Less: Clarity Upgrade Discount (24,250) -- -- (24,250) 

TOTALS COSTS 20,250 2,500 7,200 29,950 

 

New Modules Proposed 
License 

Fee 
Conversion/ 

Setup 
Training 

Cost 
Total 

Investment 

Annual 
Support 
Increase 

Based on 4 Concurrent User Licenses $         0 $         0 $        0 $           0           $           0 

miExcel GL 1,000 -- 300 1,300 200 

miExcel PR Import 1,800 600 300 2,700 360 

UB ACH 2,200 -- -- 2,200 440 

CR Payment Import 1,500 -- -- 1,500 450 

miViewPoint 3,000 600 600 4,200 600 

Less: Negotiated Discount (30%) (2,850) -- -- (2,850) (570) 

TOTALS COSTS 6,650 1,200 1,200 9,050 1,480 

 
*Above amounts do not include travel expenses 
**If Online Bill Pay is chosen there could be upfront and transactional payments are paid to our preferred vendors.  You will need 

to get a quote from them directly 



 

 

A SUBSIDIARY OF BAKER TILLY 
VIRCHOW KRAUSE, LLP 

 

 

Optional Module Detailed Costs 

OPTIONAL MODULES 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Selected Product Descriptions 
License Fee 4 
Concurrent 

One-Time 
conversion/ 

setup 

Training 
and Onsite 
Assistance 
Cost/Days 

Year one Total 
w/o Support 

Annual 
Fees* 

Concurrent Users Above 4 (each)  $     2,000 $         0 $            0         2,000            $           0  

 

*Above amounts do not include travel expenses 



 

 

HARDWARE REQUIREMENTS 
 

Network System Requirements – Caselle® Clarity 4.x – Network 

Important! Using servers or workstations that do NOT meet the specified network system requirements may result in 
unsatisfactory performance and response times. This document lists the minimum hardware and software requirements 
for installing Clarity. 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Network Server Operating System Microsoft 
®

 Windows 2008 R2 Server (64-bit), 2012 Server (64-bit), 2012 R2 (64-bit) 

  
Network Server Equipment Intel® Xeon® Quad-Core Processor 3.0 Ghz or higher | 16 GB of available RAM | 10 GB 

available disk space for Caselle Clarity applications (180 MB) and data | Separate physical hard 
drive for SQL log file | LCD Monitor | 1 GB Ethernet Network Card | 1 GB Ethernet Switch | 
DVDRW Drive 
 
All hardware must be Microsoft® certified (request printed certification documents).  Intel® Core™ i3, Intel® Celeron®, and AMD 
Sempron™, and Intel® Pentium processors are NOT recommended. 

  
Database Server Equipment and 

Operating System
 •  Use the Recommended Network Server. For better performance, increase memory on network 

server or, use a separate Database Server (same specifications as the Network Server). 
•  Networks with more than ten workstations may require faster processors and/or more memory 

than the recommended. 
  

Database Software Microsoft®  SQL Server 2012 (64-bit) or 2014 (64- bit) 
  

Network Server and Database Server 
Power Protection

 True On-Line UPS, 600 Voltamps minimum with UPS Monitoring card, cable, and software. 

Workstation Computer  i5, or i7 (3 GHz or higher) | 8 GB of available RAM | 3 0 GB available disk space for Caselle 
Clarity applications (180 MB) and data | LCD Monitor  
 
All hardware must be Microsoft® certified (request printed certification documents).  Intel® Core™ i3, Intel® Celeron®, and AMD 
Sempron™, and Intel® Pentium processors are NOT recommended. 

  
Workstation Operating System Windows 7™ Professional (32-bit or 64-bit). Windows 8™ Professional (32-bit or 64 –bit) 

  
Workstation Power Protection UPS/Battery backup unit 

  
Backup System Network quality system to back up fileserver hard drive on one tape and provide tape read after write 

verification.  Make sure the backup system supports backing up MSSQL Databases.  Example: Backup 
Exec with SQL Agent. 

  
Data File Transfer DVDRW Drive 

  
Printer HP Laser Printer or Canon Copiers with PCL or Postscript Drivers 

  
Receipt Printer Ithaca Series (Impact) 150 and 280 Printers, Ithaca Series (Thermal) 280 Printers, Star TSP100, Epson TM 

H6000IV 

  
Internet Access DSL, ISDN, or T1 

Explanation: Caselle® Applications require Internet access to download program updates. Using an 
Internet connection that is slower than 256 Kbps will take significantly longer to download data. 

  
Email Email that is compatible with Microsoft® Windows. 

  
Network Installer

Web Services

 Microsoft® Certified 
 
IIS 7 (Windows Server 2008, 2012) 



 

 

Attachment A – Caselle Software Distribution Agreement  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Caselle Software Distribution Agreement 
 

Caselle 
1570 North Main 

P.O. Box 100 
Spanish Fork, Utah  84660 

(“Caselle”) 
 

CASELLE, INC. 
SOFTWARE LICENSE AGREEMENT 

 
CASELLE AGREES TO PROVIDE THE SOFTWARE TO YOU, SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING TERMS AND CONDITIONS. 

 
Grant of License 

Caselle agrees to grant, and You agree to accept a limited, non-exclusive license ("License") to use the computer programs, with the accompanying manuals, video 
tapes, literature and other materials ("Software") as detailed under Items, in perpetuity subject to the terms and conditions of this Software License Agreement and 
subject to termination as provided herein. 
 
Title and Confidentiality 
Title and full ownership rights to the Software licensed under this agreement, including, without limitation, all intellectual property rights therein and thereto, and any 
copies You make, remain with Caselle.  It is agreed the Software is the proprietary, confidential, trade secret property of Caselle, whether or not any portions thereof 
are or may be copyrighted and You shall take all reasonable steps necessary to protect the confidential nature of the Software as You would take to protect Your own 
confidential and trade secret information.  You further agree that You shall not make any disclosure of any or all such Software (including methods or concepts 
utilized therein) to anyone, except to employees, agents, or contractors working for You to whom such disclosure is necessary to the use for which rights are granted 
hereunder.  You shall appropriately notify all employees, agents, and contractors to whom any such disclosure is made that such disclosure is made in confidence and 
shall be kept in confidence by them.  Upon Caselle's request, such employees, agents, and contractors shall enter into an appropriate confidentiality agreement for 
secrecy and nonuse of such information which by its terms shall be enforceable by injunctive relief at the request of Caselle.  If Caselle makes such a request, it shall 
provide You with the appropriate confidentiality agreements.  The obligations imposed by this section upon You, Your employees, agents, and contractors, shall 
survive and continue after any termination of rights under this Agreement.  It shall not be a breach of this agreement if you are required to disclose or make the 
Software available to a third party or to a court if the Software is required to be disclosed pursuant to a state's "open records" law, or is subpoenaed or otherwise 
ordered by an administrative agency or court of competent jurisdiction to be produced. 
 

License 
You may: 

a) Use the Software on a single CPU or network ("System") for the appropriate number of users. The Software may be moved to and used on another System, but 
shall under no circumstances be used on more than one System at a time. 

b) Make System readable copies of the diskettes provided with the Software as required for backup protection. Such copies may only be used in support of Your use 
of the Software on the System and may not be used for any other purpose. Each of these copies must have a label placed on the media indicating the Software is a 
proprietary product of Caselle. 

You may not: 

a) Rent, lease, sublicense, assign or otherwise transfer this Software, in whole or in part, except as expressly permitted by this Agreement. 

b) Inspect, disassemble, decompile, reverse engineer or in any way attempt to determine the internal methods of the Software. 

c) Modify the Software or merge it into any other product without the express written consent of Caselle. 

d) Reproduce, transmit or distribute the Software, or any part of it, in any form or by any means except as expressly permitted in this Agreement. 

e) Permanently transfer or assign the Software and the rights under this License to another party without the express written consent of Caselle. 

f)  Use the Software to provide accounting services to multiple government agencies other than Your own. 
  
Any attempt to do any of the above (a to e) shall void and terminate this Agreement. 

Term 
This Software License Agreement is and shall be effective from the date of full execution and shall remain in force until terminated. You may terminate this 
Agreement at any time by notifying Caselle in writing and returning all copies and modifications of the Software within 30 days of such notification. Your License 
terminates automatically if you materially fail to comply with any terms or conditions of this Agreement and You must return all copies and modifications of the 
Software to Caselle or its agent within 30 days of receipt of written notification of such termination. For each day You retain the Software without a valid License You 
agree to pay Caselle $100. 
 

 



 

 

Attachment A – Caselle Software Distribution Agreement  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Warranty 
a) Caselle warrants that it has sufficient right and title to the Software to grant You this License. For 1 year from the date of receipt of the Software 

("Warranty Period"), Caselle also warrants the Software media to be free from defects in materials and workmanship under normal use, and 
Software operation will substantially conform to the specification published by Caselle.  If an error or a defect in the Software or its media 
becomes apparent within the Warranty Period You must promptly notify Caselle, in writing, describing the defect. Upon confirming the error or 
defect Caselle will, at its exclusive option, repair or replace the item or refund the price paid for the defective item. Caselle does not warrant that 
the functions contained in the Software will meet Your requirements or that the operation of the Software will be uninterrupted or error free. The 
entire risk as to the results and performance of the Software is assumed by You. The warranty does not cover Software modified by anyone other 
than Caselle and problems with, or caused by, computer hardware or non-Caselle software. 

b) Caselle represents and warrants that the Software is Year 2000 compliant; that it shall not cause the system to crash on account of indefinite date or data fields; 
that it shall be fault-free in processing date and data (including, but not limited to, calculating, comparing and sequencing) prior to, through and beyond January 
1, 2000, including any leap year calculations. 

Disclaimers and Limitations of Remedies 

 
a) Except as specifically stated in this Agreement, the Software is Licensed "as is" without warranty of any kind, either express or implied, including, but not 

limited to implied warranties of merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose. In no event shall Caselle be liable for any indirect, special or consequential 
damages, including, but not limited to, loss of anticipated profits, revenue or savings, arising from the use of or inability to use the Software or breach of any 
expressed or implied warranty, even if Caselle or its agent has been advised of the possibility of such damages. The maximum liability of Caselle for all 
damages from any claims shall not exceed the License fee for the Software. 

b) In the event that the parties are unable to resolve differences, which may arise relating to this Agreement, all disputes rising from this Agreement 
shall be resolved through binding arbitration in Utah.  The arbitration shall be governed by the most recently published Commercial Arbitration 
Rules of the American Arbitration Association.  Both parties agree to submit disputes to a single arbitrator acceptable to both parties.  The 
arbitrator will be selected from a list compiled by the parties’ respective legal counsels.  Every person named on the list of potential arbitrators 
must be a neutral and impartial lawyer who has at least ten years specializing in the field of general commercial litigation and is knowledgeable 
about software.  The arbitrator shall base its award on applicable law and judicial precedent and unless both parties agree otherwise shall include 
in such award the finding of fact and conclusions of law upon which the award is based.  Judgment on the award rendered by the arbitrator may 
be entered in any court having jurisdiction thereof. 

 
Additional Services 

Support, Training and Data Conversion for the Software will be provided directly by Caselle, or its authorized agent, and are subject to separate agreements. 

General 
a) The Warranty and Limitation of Remedies gives You specific legal rights.  You may also have other rights, which vary from state to state, in which case the 

greater right will apply.  
b) This Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Utah and you hereby consent to the jurisdiction of State and Federal 

courts in Wisconsin. If any part of this Agreement violates applicable law, that part shall be deemed to be amended to the extent necessary to comply with the 
law. 

c) This Agreement constitutes the entire Agreement between Caselle and You and supersedes any prior Agreement or understanding, written or oral. Except as 
provided herein, this Agreement may not be amended or supplemented except in writing and properly executed by both parties. 

d) If any provision of this Agreement shall be adjudged by a court to be void or unenforceable, the same shall in no way affect any other provision of 
this Agreement or the validity or the enforceability of this Agreement. 

e) All rights and remedies provided herein are cumulative and are in addition to all other rights and remedies available at law or equity. 
f) In the event that either party successfully takes legal action to enforce any provision of this Agreement the unsuccessful party shall pay full costs and expenses 

of such action, including reasonable attorney's fees. 
g) Any notice required by this Agreement shall be deemed to have been properly given if sent by registered or certified mail. 
h) The waiver of any breach or default of this Agreement shall constitute a waiver only as to such particular breach or default and shall not constitute a waiver of 

any other breach or default. 
i) Neither party shall be held liable for delays in any of its performance resulting from acts of God, war, civil disturbance, court order, labor dispute or any other 

cause beyond its control. 

 
 



 

 

Attachment B – Support Agreement  

CIVIC SUPPORT AGREEMENT 
  
 

                

 
This Support Agreement is made by and between the VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD HILLS (client), 810 Shorewood Blvd, 
Madison, WI  53705, and CIVIC SYSTEMS, LLC (Civic), Ten Terrace Court, Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7398.    
 
 
TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 

1. DEFINITIONS 
 
For purposes of this Civic Support Agreement, the subsequent capitalized terms will have the following 
meanings: 

A. “Client” – Will denote the Village of Shorewood Hills, WI. 
B. “Civic” – Will denote Civic Systems, LLC. 
C. “Services” – Will denote services related to software training, onsite implementation assistance, and 

conversion services, as more specifically set forth in the “Conversion Services” attached hereto as Attachment 
“B”. 

D. “Software” – Will denote end user computer programs and modules purchased by the Client from Civic, as 
more specifically set forth in the “Cost Detail” attached hereto as Attachment “A”. 

E. “Product” – Will denote any goods or services produced by a third-party entity other than Civic. 

 
2. TERM  

The initial term of this Support Agreement is for a period of 1 year(s) from the effective date.  The effective date is defined 
as the date the first module is implemented and considered “live”.  Upon expiration of the initial term of the Support 
Agreement, it shall be deemed renewed with the same terms and conditions for further successive periods of  one (1) year(s) 
unless either party has given the other party written notice not less than thirty (30) days prior to the expiration of the initial 
term or subsequent renewal term(s).   

3. CHARGES  

Civic will invoice client on the effective date and semi-annually thereafter.  Invoices are sent in December for Support 
services rendered in the subsequent six (6) months for January through June.  Invoices are sent in June for Support 
services rendered in the subsequent six (6) months for July through December.  All invoices are due within 30 days of the 
invoice date.  Invoices not paid within 30 days are subject to 1.5% interest per month or an annual interest rate of 18% per 
year.  Civic will cease any and all Support services for any invoice not paid within 90 days until payment is made in full.  
Civic has the right to increase support charges at each anniversary or the effective date. Written notice of such increases shall 
be given to client not less than thirty (30) days before the anniversary of the effective date. 

4. SERVICE HOURS  

Civic will provide telephone and web support service five business days a week, from 8 AM to 5 PM Central Standard Time, 
excluding nationally recognized holidays. Annual support charges do not cover on-site support.   

5. SERVICE NOTIFICATION  

Client shall notify Civic of support tickets, by contacting Civic support and identifying the issue and symptoms. Notification 
may be made to Civic via telephone, web, e-mail or fax, as outlined below and in any of the methods outlined in the 
SOFTWARE SUPPORT section below. 

Telephone: 608 240 2600 
Toll-Free: 800 241 1517 
Fax: 608 249 1050 
E-mail:    support@civicsystems.com   
Website: http://www.civicsystems.com 



 

 

Attachment B – Support Agreement  

 

6. TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT   

This Support Agreement may be terminated as outlined under the TERM section above.  In addition, Civic or client shall 
terminate this agreement immediately upon written notice thereof to the other party, in the event the other party shall have 
breached a material provision of this Support Agreement, which breach shall not have been cured within a thirty (30) day 
period.  If breach is not capable of being cured within such thirty (30) day period, this Support Agreement shall not be 
terminable so long as the party committing such breach shall have established to the reasonable satisfaction of the other party 
that it is using all diligent efforts to effect such cure. 
 
This Support Agreement may be terminated by either party effective immediately and without notice, upon: (i) the 
dissolution, termination of existence, liquidation or insolvency of the other party, (ii) the appointment of a custodian or 
receiver for the other party, (iii) the institution by or against the other party of any proceeding under the United States 
Bankruptcy Code or any other foreign, federal or state bankruptcy, receivership, insolvency or other similar law affecting 
the rights of creditors generally, or (iv) the making by the other party of any assignment for the benefit of creditors. 
 

7. ASSIGNMENTS 

Civic shall not assign, transfer or pledge this Support Agreement and/or the services to be performed, whether in whole or 

in part, nor assign any monies due or to become due to it without the prior written consent of client.  A consent to assign 

shall be subject to such conditions and provisions as client may deem necessary, accomplished by execution of a form 

signed by client, Civic, and the assignee.   

 
8. PLACE OF USE  

The Customer shall provide a suitable, clean location for the installation and operation of the Product, including adequate 
surge protection on the electrical supply source. 

9. RISK OF LOSS  

This Support Agreement does not cover service, maintenance or repair necessitated by loss or damage resulting from any 
cause beyond the control of Civic, including, but not limited to loss or damage due to fire, water, lightning, earthquake, riot, 
unauthorized service or modifications, theft, or any other cause originating outside the Product.  

10. PERFORMANCE  

Civic shall exercise its best efforts in performing services covered under this Support Agreement, but shall not be liable for 
damages, direct or otherwise, for failure to perform services at a location deemed hazardous to health or safety or arising out 
of delays or failure in furnishing parts or services caused by Acts of God, Acts of Government, labor disputes or difficulties, 
failure of transportation or other causes beyond its control, or for any consequential damage whatsoever. 

11. LIABILITY  

Civic is only obligated to provide software support services for the most currently released version of the Software, and the 
immediately preceding version. Civic shall not be responsible, nor incur liability of any kind, nature or description to client, 
its agents or employees or any other firm or corporation, whether direct or consequential, in event of failure or fault in 
condition or operation of the Product or for errors of omission in the transmission or display of information arising from the 
actual or alleged use of operation of the Product. 



 

 

Attachment B – Support Agreement  

 

11. Warranty 

 
A. Each party represents and warrants to the other that it has full power and authority to enter into and perform this 

Agreement and the person signing this Agreement on behalf of each party hereto has been properly authorized and 
empowered to enter into this Agreement. 

 
B. Client warrants that it has the legal right and authority, and will continue to have the legal right and authority during the 

term of this Agreement, to operate, configure, provide, place, install, upgrade, add, maintain and repair (and authorize 
Civic to do any of the foregoing to the extent the same are included in the Services) the hardware, software and data that 
comprises any of client’s information technology system upon which or related to which Civic provides Services under 
this Agreement. 
 

C. Civic represents and warrants that materials produced or used under this contract, including but not limited to software 
hardware, documentation, and/or any other item, do not and will not infringe upon any intellectual property rights of 
another, including without limitation patents, copyrights, trade secrets, trade names, and service marks and names.   
 

D. If a third party claim that the Software infringes upon any intellectual property rights of another which causes client’s 
reasonable use of the software or other material supplied under this contract to be seriously endangered or disrupted, Civic 
shall promptly, without additional charge to client either procure for client the right to continue using the software or 
other material, or replace or modify that software or material so that it becomes non-infringing, provided that such 
replacement or modified software or material has the same functional characteristics as the infringing software or 
material.  If none of the foregoing alternatives are possible even after Civic’s best efforts, client shall have the right at its 
election, to terminate the license to the infringing software and Civic shall promptly refund to client all fees, costs, and 
charges paid by client to Civic for that software or material and any other software or material reasonably rendered 
ineffective as the result of said infringement.   

 

E. Civic warrants that any Services that it provides to client under this Agreement will be performed in accordance with 
generally accepted industry standards of care and competence.  Client’s sole and exclusive remedy for a breach of Civic’s 
warranty will be for Civic, in its sole discretion, to either: (i) use its reasonable commercial efforts to re-perform or 
correct the Services, or (ii) refund the fee client paid for the Services that are in breach of Civic’s warranty.  Client must 
make a claim for breach of warranty in writing within thirty (30) days of the date that the Services that do not comply 
with Civic’s warranty are performed.  This warranty is voided in the event that client makes alterations to the Services 
provided by Civic or to the environment in which Services are used (including the physical, network and systems 
environments).  If client does not notify Civic of a breach of Civic’s warranty during that 30-day period, client will be 
deemed to have irrevocably accepted the Services. 

 
F. Civic does not warrant any third-party product (each, a “Product”). All Products are provided to client by Civic “AS IS.” 

Civic will, to the extent it is allowed to by its vendors, pass through any warranties and indemnifications provided by the 
manufacturer of the Product. Client acknowledges that no employee of Civic or any other party is authorized to make any 
representation or warranty on behalf of Civic that is not in this Agreement. 



 

 

Attachment B – Support Agreement  

12. LIMITATION ON LIABILITY  

In no event will Civic’s liability exceed the license fees, services, and support fees paid to date by the Customer to Civic. 
This limitation of liability is intended to apply to the full extent allowed by law, regardless of the grounds or nature of any 
claim asserted, including the negligence of either party.  In no event shall either party be liable for ANY lost profits, LOST 
Business opportunity, lost data, consequential, special, incidental, exemplary or punitive damages arising out of or related to 
this Agreement. 
 
Customer will indemnify Civic, its parent company (Baker Tilly) and their present or former partners, principals, employees, 
officers and agents against all costs, fees, expenses, damages and liabilities (including attorney’s fees and all defense costs) 
associated with any third-party claim, relating to or arising as a result of the Services of this Agreement. 
 
In the event Civic is requested by the Customer; or required by government regulation, subpoena, or other legal process to 
produce its engagement working papers or its personnel as witnesses with respect to its Services rendered for the Customer, 
so long as Civic is not a party to the proceeding in which the information is sought, Customer will reimburse Civic for its 
professional time and expenses, as well as the fees and legal expenses, incurred in responding to such a request.  
 
Civic will indemnify Customer against any damage or expense relating to bodily injury or death of any person or tangible 
damage to real and/or personal property incurred while Civic is performing the Services to the extent such damage is caused 
solely by the negligent acts or willful misconduct of Civic’s personnel or agents in performing the Services. 
 
Customer accepts and acknowledges that any legal proceedings arising from or in connection with the services provided 
under this Agreement must be commenced within twelve (12) months after the performance of the Services for which the 
action is brought, without consideration as to the time of discovery of any claim. 
 

13. DEFAULT  

In the event of payment default by client, Civic shall be entitled to collect interest and collection costs, including court costs 
and reasonable attorney fees. In the event of default by the Customer in any term or condition herein, Civic may, at its 
option, refuse service or terminate its obligations under this Agreement. 

14. FORCE MAJEURE 

In the event that either party is prevented from performing, or is unable to perform, any of its obligations under this 
Agreement due to any act of God, fire, casualty, flood, war, strike, lock out, failure of public utilities, injunction or any act, 
exercise, assertion or requirement of any governmental authority, epidemic, destruction of production facilities, insurrection, 
inability to obtain labor, materials, equipment, transportation or energy sufficient to meet needs, or any other cause beyond 
the reasonable control of the party invoking this provision (“Force Majeure Event”), and if such party shall have used 
reasonable efforts to avoid such occurrence and minimize its duration and has given prompt written notice to the other party, 
then the affected party’s failure to perform shall be excused and the period of performance shall be deemed extended to 
reflect such delay as agreed upon by the parties. 

 



 

 

Attachment B – Support Agreement  

  
15. NOTIFICATION  

All notices or communications required or permitted as a part of the Agreement shall be in writing (unless another 
verifiable medium is expressly authorized) and shall be deemed delivered when: 
 

A. Actually received, or 
 

B. Upon receipt by sender of a certified mail, return receipt signed by an employee or agent of the party, or 
 

C. If not actually received, ten (10) days after deposit with the United States Postal Service authorized mail center with 
proper postage (certified mail, return receipt requested) affixed and addressed to the respective other party at the address 
set forth below or 
 

D. Upon delivery by client of the notice to an authorized Civic representative while at client site.  
 

The addresses of the parties to this Agreement are as follows: 
 
Civic Systems, LLC 
Ten Terrace Court 
P.O. Box 7398 
Madison, WI  53707-7398 
 
Village of Shorewood Hills 
810 Shorewood Blvd 
Madison, WI  53705 

16. WAIVER  
This instrument contains the entire Agreement for support of the parties. It cannot be changed, altered or modified orally. All 
changes or modifications must be in writing by the parties hereto. 

17. SOFTWARE SUPPORT  
The customer will supply the conditions and data which caused the malfunction and help reproduce the failure. The 
following services are part of the Support Agreement: 

A. Telephone and Internet Support – Unlimited and reasonable telephone technical support is provided during the hours 
specified in the Service Hours section above.  In addition, client has the ability to log support issues and search a knowledge 
base utilizing Civic’s customer support portal over the internet twenty-four (24) hours a day, seven (7) days a week.  
Technical support history, including issue and resolution, shall be available to client via the customer support portal over the 
internet for a period of three (3) years.  Civic shall, on occasion, employ software tools that utilize the internet to troubleshoot 
technical support issues.  

B. Bug fixes and Updates – Civic shall provide client with all bug fixes and updates within twenty (20) days of receiving bug 
fixes and updates upon satisfactory software testing by Civic.  Documentation communicating bug fixes, updates, and 
changes to the database schema shall be sent to client.   
 

C. Software Upgrades – Civic shall provide client with upgrades to the current platform when available.  Civic shall provide 
client with all upgrades within thirty (30) days of satisfactory software testing by Civic.  All relevant documentation 
communicating enhancements, changes to user manuals, changes to the database schema, etc. shall be sent to client. 

 

D. Trained Employees – Support will be provided to any employee that has completed formal training with Civic.  
Client shall notify Civic of any new employees requiring software support.  New employees must schedule formal 
training with Civic at the current daily rate before support services are provided under the Support Agreement.  If 
software support is required before training takes place, Civic will provide support as long as training has been 
scheduled with Civic 
 

18. MISCELLANEOUS  
This Support Agreement covers those services rendered for pre and post “go-live”. 



L:\DOCS\006480\002441\RESOLUTION\3992138.DOCX 

0219161559 

RESOLUTION NO. R-2016-1 

 

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD HILLS  

 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A TAX INCREMENT GRANT AGREEMENT  

THE LODGE AT WALNUT GROVE II 

 

 

 

RECITALS 

 

1. The Village has started the process needed to create Tax Incremental Financing 

District No. 5 (the “District”), and desires to facilitate the redevelopment of certain 

property within the proposed District located at 4610 University Avenue (the 

“Property”); and 

 

2. Flad Development & Investment Corp. (the “Developer”) wishes to construct a 

multi-family rental housing project consisting of 94 residential housing units (the 

“Project”).  

 

3. Developer has requested tax increment grant funds from the Village to facilitate 

construction of the Project, including an affordable housing component of the 

Project. 

 

4. The Village and Developer desire to enter into a tax increment grant agreement to 

facilitate the redevelopment of the Property consistent with the Project Plan for the 

proposed District, and to facilitate the development of affordable housing. 

 

5. As an inducement to Developer to develop the Property and otherwise facilitate 

the Project, and in order to make the Project financially feasible and to implement 

the Project Plan, the Village finds it appropriate to provide tax increment 

development assistance for the Project as described in, and subject to the 

reservations contained in, the Tax Increment Grant Agreement attached as Exhibit 

A to this Resolution.   

 

6. The Village Board finds that the Project and the fulfillment of the terms and 

conditions of the Tax Increment Tax Agreement are in the vital and best interests 

of the Village and its residents, by redeveloping underutilized property in the 

Village and implementing the Project Plan and the Comprehensive Plan, and 

creating to provide additional affordable housing in the Village. 

 

 

 



2 
L:\DOCS\006480\002441\RESOLUTION\3992138.DOCX 

0219161559 

 

RESOLUTION 

 

The Tax Increment Grant Agreement between the Village of Shorewood Hills and 

Flad Development & Investment Corp._________________________attached as Exhibit 

A to this Resolution, is approved, and the Village President and Village Clerk are hereby 

authorized to execute the Agreement on the Village’s behalf.  

 

The above and foregoing resolution was duly adopted by the Village Board of the 

Village of Shorewood Hills at its meeting held on February 22, 2016, by a vote of ______ 

in favor, ______ opposed, and ______ not voting.   

 

APPROVED:   

 

 

By        

Mark Sundquist, Village President 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

        

Colleen Albrecht, Village Clerk 

 

 



3 
L:\DOCS\006480\002441\RESOLUTION\3992138.DOCX 

0219161559 

EXHIBIT A 

 

TAX INCREMENT GRANT AGREEMENT 



L:\DOCS\006480\002441\MISC\3992146.DOCX 

0219161559 1 

Village of Shorewood Hills 

Lodge at Walnut Grove Phase II TID Agreement  

Summary of Main Elements 

February 22, 2016 

 

 

1. Developer would redevelop the Pyare site in accordance with the plans the Village 

has approved.  The Project would include 8 affordable housing units (3 one-

bedroom units, 3 two-bedroom units, and 2 three-bedroom units.  Compliance 

monitoring by WHEDA. 

 

2. The Village would provide a developer-financed (“pay-as-you-go”) TIF grant 

totaling 4,494,816.00. The Village would issue a municipal revenue obligation 

(MRO) in the principal amount of 2,490,000.00, payable over the life of the TID, 

with interest at 5 percent.  The MRO would be issued upon substantial completion 

of the project.  The MRO may be prepaid by the Village. 

 

3. The Village would advance funds from the Village general fund to the TIF Fund 

as needed to pay TIF administrative expenses. 

 

4. Tax Increment generated by the District would be allocated as follows: 

 

A. From 2017 to 2033: 

(1) First to make scheduled payments on MRO.   

(2) Second to the Village. 

   

B. In 2034 through the end of the District: 

(1) First to pay accrued and on-going Village administrative costs. 

(2) Second to make scheduled payments on MRO. 

(3) Anything left would be allocated to the Village. 

 

5. Developer will grant easement for public use of sidewalks and playground.  

Developer will grant easement to the Lodge Phase I for reciprocal use of private 

streets.   

 

6. Risk assessment. 

 

Developer would assume the risk that tax increment will be too low to fully pay the MRO 

and Village administrative costs.  In the last ten years of the TIF, the Village’s accrued 

and ongoing administrative costs would be paid before scheduled payments on 

Developer’s MRO.   



 

 
1 

L:\DOCS\006480\002441\AGREE\3983443.DOCX 
0219161600 

TAX INCREMENT GRANT AGREEMENT 
 

(Pyare Square Redevelopment /Lodge-Phase II) 
 
 

THIS TAX INCREMENT GRANT AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is entered 
into as of ___________________, 2016 by and among the VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD 
HILLS, Wisconsin, a Wisconsin municipal corporation (the “Village”) and FLAD 
DEVELOPMENT & INVESTMENT CORP., a Wisconsin corporation (the “Developer”). 

 
RECITALS 

 
WHEREAS, the Village intends to create Tax Incremental Financing District No. 5 

(the “District”); and 
 
WHEREAS, the Village desires to facilitate the redevelopment of certain property 

within the District located generally at 4610 University Avenue (the “Property”); and 
 
WHEREAS, the Village intends to established the District to, among other things, 

make certain grants and incur certain project costs as described in, and subject to the 
reservations contained in this Agreement; and 

 
WHEREAS, Developer intends to construct a multi-family rental housing project 

consisting of 94 residential housing units, subject to the requirements and reservations 
contained in this Agreement; and   

 
WHEREAS, Developer has requested tax increment grant funds from the Village 

to facilitate construction of the Project, including an affordable housing component of the 
Project; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Village and Developer desire to enter into a tax increment grant 

agreement to facilitate the redevelopment of the Property consistent with the Project Plan 
for the District, and to promote the development of affordable housing; and 

 
WHEREAS, as an inducement to Developer to develop the Property and otherwise 

facilitate the Project, and in order to make the Project financially feasible and to implement 
the Project Plan, the Village finds it appropriate to provide tax increment development 
assistance for the Project as described in, and subject to the reservations contained in, this 
Agreement; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Village finds and determines that unless the Village provides the 

development incentive assistance described in this Agreement, Developer will not 
construct the Project, and the Village will not accomplish the objectives of the Project Plan; 
and 

 



 

 
2 

L:\DOCS\006480\002441\AGREE\3983443.DOCX 
0219161600 

WHEREAS, the Village finds that the Project and the fulfillment of the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement are in the vital and best interest of the Village and its 
residents, by redeveloping underutilized property in the Village and implementing the 
Project Plan and the Comprehensive Plan, and creating an opportunity to provide 
additional affordable housing; and  

 
WHEREAS, the Village Board on __________________, 2016, approved this 

Agreement and authorized the Village, through its duly authorized officials and agents, to 
execute this Agreement; and 

 
WHEREAS, Developer approved and authorized the execution of this Agreement. 
 

AGREEMENT 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the Recitals, and the mutual promises, 

obligations and benefits provided hereunder, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby 
acknowledged, Developer and the Village agree as follows: 

 
A. DEFINITIONS.  As used in this Agreement, the following terms, when having an 
initial capital letter, shall mean: 
 

1. Actual Tax Increment.  The actual cash flow received by the Village from 
the tax increment generated by the District pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 66.1105. For purposes 
of calculating the Actual Tax Increment, the base value for the Property shall be 
$3,750,000. 

 
2. Excess Tax Increment.  Through calendar year 2033, “Excess Tax 

Increment” shall mean the Actual Tax Increment as defined herein.  Beginning in calendar 
year 2034 and continuing until the termination of the District, “Excess Tax Increment” 
shall mean the Actual Tax Increment remaining each year after (1) the Village pays itself 
one-tenth of the 17 Year Administrative Costs (as defined in Section C.5 below); and 
(2) the Village pays its Ongoing Administrative Expenses for the prior year.  
 

3. District.  Village of Shorewood Hills Tax Increment District No. 5.   
 
4. Project.  A multi-family housing project consisting of 94 residential housing 

units constructed in accordance with the General Development Plan.  
 
5. General Development Plan. The General Development Plan and Specific 

Development Plan for the Property approved by the Village Board on November 16, 2015 
and any approved amendments thereto.    

 
6. Property.  The lands shown as “Lot 1” on the unrecorded Certified Survey 

Map attached as Attachment A. 
 



 

 
3 

L:\DOCS\006480\002441\AGREE\3983443.DOCX 
0219161600 

7. Village Fire and EMS Payment.  The payment the Village is required to 
make to the City of Madison each year for fire protection and emergency medical service, 
pursuant to Section 4 of the Fire Protection and Emergency Medical Service Agreement 
Between the City of Madison and the Village of Shorewood Hills, signed by Village 
President Mark Sundquist on August 19, 2013 and Mayor Paul Soglin on September 17, 
2013, and as that agreement may be amended from time to time.    

 
B. CONTINGENCIES. This Agreement is expressly contingent upon each of the 
following conditions being met before December 31, 2016.  In the event that a condition is 
not met prior to December 31, 2016, the parties shall have the right to terminate this 
Agreement. 
 

1. The full and final approval of the District pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 66.1105 
and the inclusion of the Project as an eligible project cost in the Project Plan for the 
District.   

 
2. Developer, the Village, and the Wisconsin Housing and Economic 

Development Authority (“WHEDA”) entering into an agreement in a form substantially 
similar to Attachment B under which WHEDA assumes responsibility for monitoring 
compliance with the Land Use Restriction Agreement.   

 
3. Developer or its assigns, acquiring the Property.  
 

C. DEVELOPER OBLIGATIONS. 
 

1. Construct the Project.  Developer shall use good faith efforts to commence 
construction of the Project within 120 days after the date of this Agreement and to 
substantially complete the Project within 15 months from the date of commencement.  

 
2. Tax Agreement.  Within 30 days after this execution of this Agreement, 

Developer shall execute and record a Tax Agreement that is not subordinate to any lien 
against the Property, in the form attached as Attachment E.   

 
3. Land Use Restriction Agreement.  Within 30 days after the execution of this 

Agreement, Developer and the Village shall execute and record a Land Use Restriction 
Agreement that is not subordinate to any lien against the Property.  The Land Use 
Restriction Agreement shall be in substantially the same form as Attachment F.   

 
4. Affordable Housing Units.  The Village requires the Project to include a 

total of eight Affordable Units (as defined in the Land Use Restriction Agreement) as 
follows: 

 
(a) Except as otherwise provided in Section 2.1 of the Land Use 

Restriction Agreement attached as Attachment F, the Project’s southern building shall 
include not fewer than 2 one-bedroom Affordable Housing units, 1 two-bedroom 
Affordable Housing unit, and 2 three-bedroom Affordable Units.  



 

 
4 

L:\DOCS\006480\002441\AGREE\3983443.DOCX 
0219161600 

 
(b) Except as otherwise provided in Section 2.1 of the Land Use 

Restriction Agreement attached as Attachment F, the Project’s northern building shall 
include not fewer than 2 two-bedroom Affordable Units and 1 one-bedroom Affordable 
Unit.  

 
(c) Equal Opportunity.  Developer shall advertise the Affordable 

Housing units in a manner designed to reach persons of diverse financial, racial and 
ethnic populations.  Developer shall market and advertise the Affordable Units in 
accordance with the marketing and advertising plan attached as Attachment G, or as 
modifications to such plan may be approved by the Village.  Developer shall comply 
with all federal, state and local laws and regulations prohibiting discrimination in renting 
housing units. 

 
5. Payment of Village Administrative Costs.  

 
(a) Initial Administrative Costs. Developer shall reimburse the 

Village for fifty (50%) percent of all costs (“Initial Administrative Costs”) that have been 
and may be incurred by the Village through the date of the execution of this Agreement, 
for services performed by or on behalf of the Village in conjunction with the Project,  
including but not limited to attorneys fees, engineering fees, planning and financial 
consulting fees, and publication costs.  Developer acknowledges that Administrative 
Costs have been and may be incurred in connection with, among other things, processing 
Developer’s application to rezone the Property, processing Developer’s application for 
approval of a certified survey map of the Property, creating the District, processing 
Developer’s request for a tax increment grant, and negotiating and preparing this 
Agreement and the attachments hereto.  Consulting, engineering, and legal fees shall be 
the actual costs to the Village on the basis of submitted invoices.  Bills shall be 
considered delivered upon personal delivery or mailing to Developer.  Developer shall 
pay the Initial Administrative Costs within thirty (30) days of the time when the Village 
delivers its bill.   

 
(b) Ongoing Administrative Costs. Following the execution of this 

Agreement and through calendar year 2033, the Village shall fund the costs for services 
performed by or on behalf of the Village in conjunction with the Project,  including but 
not limited to Village staff time, attorneys fees, engineering fees, planning and financial 
consulting fees, and publication costs, all not to exceed the sum of $10,000 per year 
(“Ongoing Administrative Costs”).  At or before the end of calendar year 2033, the 
Village shall report to Developer the total amount of the Village’s Ongoing 
Administrative Costs through 2033. (“17 Year Administrative Costs”).  If sufficient 
increment is generated before calendar year 2034 such that the Village has paid Ongoing 
Administrative Costs from the increment remaining after the payment to Developer on 
the Municipal Revenue Obligation, then the Village shall not include any amounts 
previously paid from the increment in the calculation of the 17 Year Administrative 
Costs.  

 



 

 
5 

L:\DOCS\006480\002441\AGREE\3983443.DOCX 
0219161600 

(c) Ongoing Administrative Costs.  At or before the end of calendar 
year 2034 and for each subsequent calendar year the Village shall total and report to 
Developer its Ongoing Administrative Costs for that year.  

 
(d) Professional Consultants.  Developer acknowledges and 

understands that the legal, engineering, planning and other professional consultants 
retained by the Village are acting exclusively on behalf of the Village and not Developer. 

 
6. Contribution to Village Fire and EMS Payment.  Developer shall contribute 

to the Village Fire and EMS Payments the Village is required to pay to the City of 
Madison, beginning with the Village Fire and EMS Payment in 2018, and ending with the 
Village Fire and EMS Payment in the last year the District exists.  Prior to December 31, 
2017, and prior to each December 31 thereafter during the life of the District, the Village 
shall notify Developer in writing of the amount of the Village Fire and EMS Payment for 
the following year, and of the amount of Developer’s contribution to the Village Fire and 
EMS Payment for the following year.  Developer’s contribution for a given year shall be 
the difference between the following: 

 
(a) The actual Village Fire and EMS payment for the given year; and  
 
(b) The amount the Village Fire and EMS payment would have been 

for the given year if the Value Increment and population attributed to the Property were not 
included in calculating the Village Fire and EMS Payment for that year. For the purpose of 
this Section “Value Increment” means assessed value of the Property, as shown on the tax 
bill, in the current year minus the assessed value of the Property in the year the District was 
created. The population of the Property shall be the monthly average number of people 
residing on the Property during the applicable year.  Developer shall report the population 
of the Property to the Village for a given year by December 15 of that year.  Upon the 
Village’s request, Developer shall provide documentation supporting the reported 
population of the Property.  

 
One-half of Developer’s contribution for a given year shall be paid to the Village by May 1 
of the given year, and Developer’s contribution shall be paid to the Village in full by 
September 1 of the given year.    

 
D. CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP, PUBLIC USE AND EASEMENTS.   

 
1. Certified Survey Map. Developer shall record a certified survey map in 

substantially the same form attached as Attachment A.  
 
2. Cross Easement Agreement. After a certified survey map conforming 

substantially to Attachment A is recorded, Developer shall execute and record a cross 
easement agreement, in substantially the same form as Attachment C, signed by Developer 
and the owner of the Lodge Phase I property allowing for pedestrian and vehicular use of 
private drives on the Property and The Lodge Phase I property.  

 



 

 
6 

L:\DOCS\006480\002441\AGREE\3983443.DOCX 
0219161600 

3. Sidewalk and Playground Easement.  Developer shall complete the 
playground area and install the approved equipment as referenced in the General 
Development Plan. Developer shall execute and record an easement agreement in favor of 
the Village, in substantially the same form as Attachment H, allowing for Village use of the 
sidewalks and playground areas to be constructed on the Property. 

 
4. Bike Station.  Developer shall complete the Bike Station and install the 

approved equipment as referenced in the General Development Plan.  Upon completion of 
the Bike Station, the Bike Station shall be Village property.   

 
5. Lease Termination.  No later than August 31, 2017, the Village shall 

terminate the lease agreement regarding Locust Drive entered into by the Village and Lee 
& Lee Limited Partnership on October 1, 2000. 

 
E. DEVELOPMENT INCENTIVE GRANT – MUNICIPAL REVENUE 
 OBLIGATION.   
 
 Not earlier than 30 days prior to the completion of and the issuance of occupancy 
permits for all housing units within the Project, Developer shall provide to the Village a 
written request for issuance of a Municipal Revenue Obligation.  Within forty-five days 
after submittal of the written request for issuance of the Municipal Revenue Obligation, or 
within 30 days after the condition described above has been satisfied, whichever is later, 
the Village shall issue a Municipal Revenue Obligation to Developer.  The principal 
amount of the Municipal Revenue Obligation shall be Two Million Four Hundred Ninety 
Thousand Dollars ($2,490,000). The Municipal Revenue Obligation shall be in the form 
attached hereto as Attachment D, under the following terms and conditions: 
 

1. The Municipal Revenue Obligation shall bear interest at an annual rate of 
five (5%) percent.  Interest shall begin to accrue on the Municipal Revenue Obligation on 
the date on which the Municipal Revenue Obligation is issued.  
 

2. Any payment on the Municipal Revenue Obligation which is due on any 
Payment Date shall be payable only in amounts up to but not in excess of the Excess Tax 
Increment the  Village has received as of such Payment Date and has been appropriated by 
the Village Board to payment of the Municipal Revenue Obligation.   

 
3. For purposes of the Municipal Revenue Obligation, a “Payment Date” shall 

mean each of the Scheduled Payment Dates set forth on a schedule to be prepared by the 
Village and attached to the Municipal Revenue Obligation when issued.  The scheduled 
payment dates shall be prepared such that the payments on the Municipal Revenue 
Obligation are amortized over the remaining number of years that tax increment generated 
by the District may lawfully be allocated to make payments on the Municipal Revenue 
Obligation.  On each of the Payment Dates, the Village shall make a payment of principal 
and interest on the Municipal Revenue Obligation to Developer, up to the Scheduled 
Payment Amount, but not in excess of the Excess Tax Increment the Village has received, 
shown on the schedule attached to the Municipal Revenue Obligation, together with such 



 

 
7 

L:\DOCS\006480\002441\AGREE\3983443.DOCX 
0219161600 

additional amounts, if any, deferred from prior years as may be payable on the Payment 
Date as provided under the terms of the Municipal Revenue Obligation, that has been 
appropriated for that purpose by the Village Board in accordance with the requirements for 
revenue obligations.   

 
4. The Village covenants and agrees that Excess Tax Increment held by the 

Village as of a given Payment Date shall not be appropriated for any other use, if not 
appropriated for the Municipal Revenue Obligation due as of such Payment Date, until the 
Village has paid the Municipal Revenue Obligation payment due on the Payment Date in 
that year (including the Scheduled Payment Amount plus any additional amounts deferred 
from prior years and payable on that Payment Date), or until said Municipal Revenue 
Obligation has been paid.  The District shall not be terminated until the Municipal Revenue 
Obligation has been paid in full, or until the District must be terminated by law, whichever 
first occurs.  The Village further covenants and agrees that: (a) its staff will include 
payments on the Municipal Revenue Obligation to be made each year in its annual budget 
as submitted to Village’s Board for approval, and further covenants that its staff will 
request the necessary appropriation from the Board for the full amount of the Excess Tax 
Increment to be generated that year; (b) if the Village’s proposed annual budget does not in 
any year provide for appropriation of amounts sufficient to make the payments due on the 
Municipal Revenue Obligation in the full amount of the Excess Tax Increment in that year, 
the Village will notify Developer of that fact prior to the date the budget is presented to the 
Board for final approval; provided, however that failure by the Village to provide such 
notice do not otherwise obligate the Village to make the payment on the Municipal 
Revenue Obligation in the full amount of the Excess Tax Increment.   

 
5. Developer may assign the Municipal Revenue Obligation to any lender 

providing financing to the Project, or to a successor owner of the Project, and upon notice 
of such assignment, the Village shall pay directly to such lender or successor the Scheduled 
Payment Amounts due on account on the Municipal Revenue Obligation. 
 

6. If the Land Use Restriction Agreement attached as Attachment F terminates 
early due to foreclosure or transfer of title by deed-in-lieu of foreclosure, pursuant to 
Section 4.2 of the Land Use Restriction Agreement, then the Village’s obligation to make 
further payments under the Municipal Revenue Obligation shall also terminate, effective as 
of the date of early termination of the Land Use Restriction Agreement.   

 
F. ECONOMIC PERFORMANCE LOOK-BACK. 
 

1. Generally. The financial assistance to Developer under this Agreement is 
based on certain assumptions regarding likely costs and expenses associated with 
constructing and operating the Project. The Village and Developer agree that those 
assumptions will be reviewed at the times described in this Section, and that the amount 
of the development incentive grant provided under Section E of this Agreement may be 
adjusted accordingly. 
 



 

 
8 

L:\DOCS\006480\002441\AGREE\3983443.DOCX 
0219161600 

2. Baseline Projections. Developer has submitted to the Village a pro forma financial 
statement (the “Developer’s Projection” attached as Attachment I1 hereto) projecting the 
Project’s net operating income. Developer’s Projection projects that Developer will have 
cumulative net operating income totaling $7,948,436 by the end of Year 7.  Developer’s 
Projection projects that Developer will have cumulative net operating income totaling 
$19,093,850 by the end of Year 15.  
 

3. Seven Year Lookback. On or before March 15, 2024, Developer shall 
submit to the Village updated financial information certified by Developer as true and 
correct and calculated in substantially the same form as Developer’s projections as 
described in Section F.2. above, showing Developer’s Actual Income and Actual Expenses 
for Year 1 to Year 7.  “Actual Income” shall be the sum of residential rents, municipal 
revenue obligation payments received, and underground parking payments received.  
“Actual Expenses” shall be the sum of residential operating expenses, property taxes, 
residential vacancy losses, and Contribution to Village Fire and EMS Payment (which for 
the purposes of Developer’s projections was assumed to be zero).  Developer agrees to 
provide the Village supporting documentation for the financial data, upon request.  
 

(a) The amount by which Developer’s cumulative net operating income 
for Year 1 to Year 7 exceeds $    will be considered “Excess Income.” 
If the Village determines that there is Excess Income, then the outstanding principal 
amount of the Municipal Revenue Obligation shall be reduced by an amount equal to fifty 
percent (50%) of the Excess Income. 
 

4. Fifteen Year Lookback. On or before March 15, 2023, Developer shall 
submit to the Village updated financial information certified by Developer as true and 
correct and calculated in substantially the same form as Developer’s projections as 
described in Section F.2. above showing Developer’s Actual Income and Actual Expenses 
for Year 1 to Year 15.  “Actual Income” shall be the sum of residential rents, municipal 
revenue obligation payments received, and underground parking payments received.  
“Actual Expenses” shall be the sum of residential operating expenses, property taxes, 
residential vacancy losses, and Contribution to Village Fire and EMS Payment (which for 
the purposes of Developer’s projections was assumed to be zero).  Developer agrees to 
provide the Village supporting documentation for the financial data, upon request. 
 

(a) The amount by which Developer’s cumulative net operating income 
for Year 1 to Year 15 exceeds $    will be considered “Excess Income.” 
If the Village determines that there is Excess Income, then the outstanding principal 
amount of the Municipal Revenue Obligation shall be reduced by an amount equal to fifty 
percent (50%) of the Excess Income. 

                                                 
1 The Developer and the Village acknowledge that Attachment I was created on behalf of the Developer and 
its attachment to this Agreement is meant only to provide the baseline cumulative net operating income for 
this Article F.  The line item “TIF Rebate” is not intended to state the agreed upon amount of Scheduled 
Payments under the Municipal Revenue Obligation or otherwise reflect the Agreement between the Village 
and Developer regarding the amount of tax increment that will be paid to Developer.  



 

 
9 

L:\DOCS\006480\002441\AGREE\3983443.DOCX 
0219161600 

 
5. Repayment. If at any time the Village finds Excess Income as provided in 

Paragraph F.3. or F.4. above, but the Municipal Revenue Obligation has been fully paid to 
Developer, Developer shall reimburse the Village for the Excess Income as calculated in 
Paragraph F.3 or F.4. above, provided, however, that this reimbursement shall not exceed 
the original principal amount of the Municipal Revenue Obligation.  
 
G. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES. 
 

Developer warrants that Developer’s execution, delivery and performance of this 
Agreement has been duly authorized and do not conflict with, result in a violation of, or 
constitute a default under any provision of Developer’s articles of organization or 
membership agreements, or any agreement or other instrument binding upon Developer, or 
any law, governmental regulation, court decree, or order applicable to Developer or to the 
Property. 
 
H. GENERAL CONDITIONS. 
 

1. No Vested Rights Granted.  Except as provided by law, or as expressly 
provided in this Agreement, Developer shall have no vested right to develop the Project by 
virtue of this Agreement.  Nor does the Village warrant that Developer is entitled to any 
other approvals required for development of the Property or construction of the Project as a 
result of this Agreement. 

 
2. No Waiver.  No waiver of any provision of this Agreement shall be deemed 

or constitute a waiver of any other provision, nor shall it be deemed or constitute a 
continuing waiver unless expressly provided for by a written amendment to this 
Agreement signed by the Village and Developer, nor shall the waiver of any default under 
this Agreement be deemed a waiver of any subsequent default or defaults.  Any party’s 
failure to exercise any right under this Agreement shall not constitute the approval of any 
wrongful act by another party hereto. 
 

3. Amendment/Modification.  This Agreement may be amended or modified 
only by a written amendment approved and executed by the Village and Developer. 
 

4. Remedies upon Default.  A default is defined herein as a party’s breach of, 
or failure to comply with, the terms of this Agreement and the failure to cure such breach 
within thirty (30) days after the date of written notice from the non-defaulting party.  The 
parties reserve all remedies at law or in equity necessary to cure any default or remedy any 
damages or losses under this Agreement.  Rights and remedies are cumulative, and the 
exercise of one or more rights or remedies shall not preclude the exercise of other rights or 
remedies.   
 

5. Entire Agreement/Appendices Incorporated.  This written Agreement and 
the attachments hereto shall constitute the entire Agreement between Developer and the 
Village as of the date hereof. 



 

 
10 

L:\DOCS\006480\002441\AGREE\3983443.DOCX 
0219161600 

 
6. Severability.  If any part, term, or provision of this Agreement is held by the 

courts to be illegal or otherwise unenforceable, such illegality or unenforceability shall not 
affect the validity of any other part, term, or provision, and the rights of the parties will be 
construed as if the invalid part, term, or provision was never part of the Agreement.  

 
7. Assignment.  By written notice to the Village, Developer shall have the 

right to assign some or all of its obligations hereunder to Pyare Lodge, LLC, or such other 
entity as may take title to the Property.   

 
8. Binding Effect.  The obligations of each party under this Agreement shall 

be binding on its successors and assigns and shall inure to the benefit of the other party and  
its successors and assigns. 
 

9. Immunity.  Nothing contained in this Agreement constitutes a waiver of the 
Village’s sovereign immunity under applicable law. 

 
10. Notice.  Any notice required or permitted by this Agreement shall be 

deemed effective when personally delivered in writing, or faxed, as follows: 
 

To Developer:  Mr. John J. Flad 
Flad Development and Investment Corp.  
3330 University Avenue, Suite 206 
Madison, WI  53705 
 

  With a copy to: Katherine R. Rist 
     Foley & Lardner LLP 
     150 East Gilman Street, Suite 5000 
     Madison, WI 53703-1482 
 

To the Village: Village Administrator 
Village of Shorewood Hills 
810 Shorewood Boulevard 
Madison, WI 53705 
Fax:  608/266-5929 

 
With a copy to: Matthew P. Dregne 

Stafford Rosenbaum LLP 
222 West Washington Avenue, Suite 900 
P.O. Box 1784 
Fax:  608/259-2600 
Email: mdregne@staffordlaw.com 

 
11. Personal Jurisdiction and Venue.  Personal jurisdiction and venue for any 

civil action commenced by any party arising out of this Agreement shall be deemed to be 
proper only if such action is commenced in Circuit Court for Dane County unless it is 

mailto:mdregne@staffordlaw.com


 

 
11 

L:\DOCS\006480\002441\AGREE\3983443.DOCX 
0219161600 

determined that such Court lacks jurisdiction.  Developer hereby consents to personal 
jurisdiction in Dane County.  Developer also expressly waives the right to bring such 
action in, or to remove such action to, any other court whether state or federal, unless it is 
determined that the Circuit Court for Dane County lacks jurisdiction. 
 

12. Ratification.  Developer hereby approves and ratifies all actions taken to 
date by the Village, and its officers, employees and agents in connection with the District, 
and in connection with the zoning and other approvals relating to the Property and the 
Project. 
 

13. Compliance with Laws.  Developer shall comply with all federal, state and 
local laws with respect to the Project, including but not limited to laws governing building 
and construction, the environment, nondiscrimination, and employment and contracting 
practices, to the extent they are applicable. 
 

14. No Partnership.  The Village does not, in any way or for any purpose, 
become a partner, employer, principal, agent or joint venturer of or with Developer. 
 

15. Good Faith.  All parties to this Agreement shall exercise good faith in 
performing any obligation that party has assumed under the terms of this Agreement 
including, but not limited to, the performance of obligations that require the exercise of 
discretion and judgment. 
 

16. Applicable Law.  This Agreement shall be construed under the laws of the 
state of Wisconsin. 
 

17. No Private Right or Cause of Action.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be 
interpreted or construed to create any private right or any private cause of action by or on 
behalf of any person not a party hereto. 
 

18. Effective Date.  This Agreement shall be effective as of the date and year 
first written above. 
 

19. Construction of Agreement.  Each party participated fully in the drafting of 
each and every part of this Agreement.  This Agreement shall not be construed strictly in 
favor of or against any party.  It shall be construed simply and fairly to each party.  

 
20. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterpart 

copies, each of which so executed, irrespective of the date of execution and delivery, which 
may be by facsimile, shall be deemed to be an original, and all such counterparts together 
shall constitute one and the same instrument. 

 
[Signature page follows.] 

  



12 
L:\DOCS\006480\002441\AGREE\3983443.DOCX 
0219161600

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of 
the year and date first set forth above, and by so signing this Agreement, certify that they 
have been duly authorized by their respective entities to execute this Agreement on their 
behalf. 

VILLAGE: 

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD HILLS 
Dane County, Wisconsin 

By:   
Mark Sundquist, Village President 

ATTEST: 

Colleen Albrecht, Village Clerk 

DEVELOPER: 

FLAD DEVELOPMENT & INVESTMENT CORP. 

By: ___________________________ 
John J. Flad, President 

Approved as to Form: 

______________________________ 
Matthew P. Dregne, Village Attorney 

Attachments: 
A  - Unrecorded Certified Survey Map 
B  -  Compliance Monitoring Agreement 
C  -  Easement Agreement 
D  -  Form of Municipal Revenue Obligation 
E  -  Form of Tax Agreement 
F  -  Form of Land Use Restriction Agreement 
G  -  Approved Marketing Plan 
H  -  Village Easement Agreement 
I   -  Developer’s Market Rate Projection 



 

 
13 

L:\DOCS\006480\002441\AGREE\3983443.DOCX 
0219161600 

ATTACHMENT A 
UNRECORDED CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP 

 
 

 
  



 

 
14 

L:\DOCS\006480\002441\AGREE\3983443.DOCX 
0219161600 

 

  



15 
L:\DOCS\006480\002441\AGREE\3983443.DOCX 
0219161600



16 
L:\DOCS\006480\002441\AGREE\3983443.DOCX 
0219161600



17 
L:\DOCS\006480\002441\AGREE\3983443.DOCX 
0219161600



1 

COMPLIANCE MONITORING AGREEMENT 

THIS COMPLIANCE MONITORING AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made as 
of the ___ day of _____________, 2016 (the “Effective Date”), by and between the 
Village of Shorewood Hills, a Wisconsin Municipal Corporation, 810 Shorewood 
Boulevard, Madison, WI  53705 (the “Village”), P y a r e  L o d g e ,  L L C , a Wisconsin 
Limited Liability Company, 3330  Un ivers i t y  Avenu e,  Su i te  206 ,  M ad ison ,  WI   
53705 (the “Owner”), and the Wisconsin Housing and Economic Development 
Authority, a Wisconsin public body corporate and politic, 201 W. Washington Avenue, 
Suite 700, P.O. Box 1728, Madison, WI  53701-1728 (the “Authority”). 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

WHEREAS, Owner intends to construct a multi-unit mixed-use development in 
the Village (the “Development”) which Development shall have 94 residential 
apartment units; and 

WHEREAS, the Village and Owner have entered into a Land Use Restriction 
Agreement, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit “A”, and incorporated herein 
by reference (the “LURA”); and 

WHEREAS, the Village and Owner have requested that the Authority monitor 
compliance by the Owner with the terms, covenants and conditions of the LURA, and 
the Authority is willing to do so in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 

NOW, THEREFORE, for a good and valuable consideration, the receipt and 
sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, it is agreed by and between the parties 
hereto as follows: 

1) Purpose of LURA.  Developer has agreed with the Village that Developer
shall subject not less than eight affordable housing units (collectively the “Set Aside 
Units”), to the occupancy and rent restrictions set forth in Sections 2 .1, 2.2 of the 
LURA (the “Set Aside Requirements”), on a voluntary basis, so as to provide affordable 
housing in the Village for the term specified in Article 4  of the LURA. 

2) Term.  The term of this Agreement shall be equal to the term of the LURA,
and this Agreement shall terminate at such time as Owner's obligations under the 
LURA shall terminate.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if in the future the Authority no 
longer administers the federal Low Income Housing Tax Credits (“LIHTC”) for the State of 
Wisconsin, the Authority may terminate this Agreement upon written notice to Owner 
and the Village. 

3) Compliance Requirements.  On an annual basis, Owner shall provide to the

ATTACHMENT B 
COMPLIANCE MONITORING AGREEMENT 



2 

Village and the Authority a certification (the “Annual Certification”) certifying as to the 
following matters: 

A. The minimum Set Aside Requirements described in paragraph (1) 
above and the LURA, have been met for the term of the certification period. 

B. An annual resident income certification on forms acceptable to 
the Authority has been received from each resident of a Set Aside Unit.  Owner 
has obtained documentation to support the resident income certification, and 
such documentation remains in the possession of Owner. 

C. That during the period of such Annual Certification, the Gross 
Rent for Affordable Units was in compliance with Section 2 . 2  of the LURA. 

D. The identity of each qualifying Set Aside Unit in the Development 
for the period covered by the Annual Certification. 

E. That during the period of such Annual Certification, there has 
been no finding of discrimination with respect to the Development under 
federal, state or local fair housing laws. 

F. That the Development and each Set Aside Unit in the Development, 
have been issued occupancy permits which are not revoked, and that each Set 
Aside Unit complies with applicable health, safety, accessibility and building codes 
and regulations. The Owner shall further certify that the Village has not issued any 
notices for violation of health, safety or building code matters with respect to the 
Development or any Set Aside Unit in the Development. 

G. That all facilities in the Development open and available to 
residents are open and available to all residents, on a comparable basis, without a 
separate fee being charged, or if a fee is charged the fee is applicable to all 
residents on an equal basis. 

H. The Owner shall certify that reasonable attempts were made to 
rent Set Aside Units in the Development meeting the Set Aside Requirements to 
residents having a qualifying income if such Set Aside Units became vacant 
during the Annual Certification period. 

I. The Annual Certification shall describe any changes in ownership 
or management of the Development during the applicable period. 



3 

J. Owner shall provide any additional certifications reasonably 
requested by the Authority, or otherwise required under the then-current version 
of the Authority’s Affordable Housing Tax Credit Compliance Manual. 

4) Records and Inspections.  Owner shall maintain all records relating to the
Set Aside Units, including resident income certifications and documentation of rental 
charges, for a period of not less than three (3) complete calendar years after the date 
of such records.  Upon reasonable notice to Owner, either the Authority or Village may 
inspect the Owner's books or records relating to the Set Aside Units and any statement 
of facts contained in any Annual Certification.  The Authority or Village may physically 
inspect the Development in order to verify any of the factual matters set forth in the 
Annual Certification at any time during the term hereof upon reasonable notice to 
Owner, but not more frequently than one (1) time per year unless a breach of this 
Agreement or the LURA is alleged to have occurred.  The Authority agrees to physically 
inspect the Development at least one time during every three (3)-year period of the 
term of this Agreement. 

5) Compliance Monitoring Standard.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary
in the LURA, the Authority shall inspect the Development as if it is a LIHTC property, using 
the compliance standards and procedures set forth in the then-current version of the 
Authority’s Affordable Housing Tax Credit Compliance Manual, as such manual may be 
amended from time-to-time. 

6) Annual Report.  The Authority shall provide to the Village and the Owner an
annual report (the “Report”) detailing any non-compliance issues or other concerns of 
the Authority as a result of the Authority's review of the Annual Certification, the 
Authority's inspection of the Development or both.  Such Report shall be in the form the 
Authority typically generates when assessing compliance of LIHTC properties.  The Report 
shall be provided not later than one hundred twenty (120) days after receipt of the 
Annual Certification from Owner.  The first Annual Certification from Owner hereunder 
shall be delivered to the Village and the Authority no later than 2017, and on or before 
the same date each year thereafter during the term hereof.  Each Report shall be 
prepared solely for the benefit of the Village, and may not be relied upon by any other 
party without the prior written consent of the Authority. 

7) Breach.  Should the Owner breach its obligations hereunder, the Village on
its own accord or after notice from the Authority, shall provide notice to Owner of such 
breach (a “Default”), specifying the Default and directing Owner to remedy the same 
within a reasonable period of time after such notice, but in no event less than thirty 
(30) days after the date of the notice.  If the Default is of a type incapable of being 
cured within such period of time, the same shall be deemed cured if Owner has 
commenced action to cure the same within a reasonable period of time under all of the 
facts and circumstances then existing, and has prosecuted the same to completion with 



4 

reasonable due diligence, but in all cases such Default shall be cured within ninety (90) 
days from the date of the Village's notice.  In the event a Default shall remain uncured 
after notice, the Village may institute and prosecute any proceeding at law or in equity 
to abate, prevent or enjoin any such violation, to compel specific performance 
hereunder, and to recover monetary damages, together with the costs and expenses of 
any proceedings for the collection thereof, caused by such breach, or may take any 
other action available to remedy the violation.  No delay in enforcing the provisions 
hereof as to any breach or violation shall impair, damage or waive the right of any 
party entitled to enforce the same or such party's ability to obtain relief against or 
recover damages for the continuation or repetition of such breach or violation, or of 
any similar breach or violation thereof at any later time or times. 

8) Fees to Authority.  Upon the Effective Date, Owner shall pay a one-time
initial fee to the Authority in the amount of $1,000.00.  With each Annual Certification, 
Owner shall pay an annual fee on a per Set Aside Unit bases equal to the annual 
compliance fee per unit published in the Authority’s then-current Low Income 
Housing Tax Credit Qualified Allocation Plan (the “QAP”) for the “All Other” category 
under the “Initial 15 Year Compliance Period”, plus an additional thirty percent 
(30%) of such fee.  For example, based on the $45 per unit fee published in the 
Authority’s 2015-2016 QAP, such annual fee would equal $468.00 (equal to 8 Set Aside 
Units x $45 per unit x 1.3).  If the Authority is called upon to do work it deems outside 
normal LIHTC compliance duties, as determined in its reasonable discretion, the Authority 
may bill Owner for such out-of-scope work on an hourly basis. 

9) Limitation of Liability of the Authority.  Under no circumstances shall the
Authority be liable for any indirect, incidental, special or consequential damages, 
including loss of revenue, or economic damages howsoever arising.  Should the Authority 
breach its obligations under this Agreement, the Authority’s aggregate liability is hereby 
limited to the fees received by the Authority under this Agreement in the calendar year in 
which the breach occurred. 

10) Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in
accordance with the laws of the State of Wisconsin. 

11) Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall be binding upon the parties hereto,
and their respective successors and assigns. 

12) Miscellaneous.  In the event any portion of this Agreement shall be deemed
unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, the offending portion shall be 
severed from the remainder, and the remainder shall be fully enforced in accordance 
with all applicable laws, rules and regulations. 



5 

 

 

13) Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of 
counterparts, each one of which, shall be deemed an original document. 

 
14) Electronic Signatures.  Any party may elect to execute and deliver this 

Agreement electronically, and when so executed and delivered, this Agreement shall 
be the valid, lawful and binding obligation of said party. 

 
 
 

Dated as of the date and year first above written. 
 
 

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD HILLS 
 

 
Mark Sundquist, Village President 

 
 

Colleen Albrecht, Village Clerk 
 
 

PYARE LODGE, LLC 
 
By: Flad Development & Investment Corp. 
Its:  Managing Member 
 
By        
John J. Flad, President 

 
 

WISCONSIN HOUSING AND ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
 

 
By:         

 
 



6 

EXHIBIT “A” 

Land Use Restriction Agreement 



4848-8214-4814.2 

Document Number 

EASEMENT AGREEMENT 

Title 

THIS EASEMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) 
is made and entered into as of the ___ day of _________, 2016 
(the “Effective Date”), by and between PYARE LODGE LLC, a 
Wisconsin limited liability company (“Phase 2 Owner”), 
WALNUT GROVE LODGE LLC, a Wisconsin limited 
partnership (“Phase 1 Owner”), and WALNUT GROVE 
SHOPPES LLC (“Shoppes Owner”).  Phase 1 Owner, Phase 2 
Owner and Shoppes Owner are sometimes hereinafter referred to 
individually as an “Owner” and collectively as the “Owners.” 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, Phase 2 Owner owns the real property 
commonly known as 4610 University Avenue, in the Village of 
Shorewood Hills, Wisconsin, and legally described on Exhibit A 
(“Phase 2 Property”) attached hereto and incorporated herein by 
reference;  

Name and Return Address: 
Katherine R. Rist 
Foley & Lardner LLP 
150 East Gilman Street 
P.O. Box 1497 
Madison, Wisconsin  53701-1497 

See Exhibit A 

Parcel Identification Numbers 

WHEREAS, Phase 1 Owner owns the real property adjacent and to the East of 
the Phase 2 Property, commonly known as 4200 & 4250 University Avenue, in the Village of 
Shorewood Hills, Wisconsin, and legally described on Exhibit A (“Phase 1 Property”); 

WHEREAS, Shoppes Owner owns the real property adjacent and to the South of 
the Phase 1 Property, commonly known as 4000 University Avenue, in the Village of Shorewood 
Hills, Wisconsin, and legally described on Exhibit A (“Shoppes Property”); 

WHEREAS, in connection with the redevelopment of the Phase 2 Property, the 
Owners desire to establish certain cross easements and set forth their respective rights and 
responsibilities with respect to the easements in this Agreement. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and other good and 
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the 
Owners agree as follows: 

1. Incorporation of Recitals.  The above recitals are true and correct and form
a material part of this Agreement upon which the Owners have relied.  

2. Existing Easements.

a. Phase 1 Owner and Shoppes Owner are party to that certain Development
and Cross Easement Agreement, dated April 9, 2013, and recorded as Document No. 4977663 

ATTACHMENT C 
EASEMENT AGREEMENT 



2 
4848-8214-4814.2 

(the “Existing Phase 1 Easement”).  For the avoidance of doubt, the Existing Phase 1 Easement 
shall remain in full force and effect.   

b. Flad Development & Investment Corp., as predecessor in interest to Phase 
1 Owner and Shoppes Owner, as the owner of the Phase 1 Property and the Shoppes Property, 
and Hong Kong Metro Realty Co. Inc., as predecessor in interest to the Phase 2 Owner, as the 
owner of the Phase 2 Property, previously entered into that certain Easement Agreement, dated 
January 28, 2013, and recorded as Document No. 4985590 (the “Existing Cross Easement”).  
This Agreement hereby amends, terminates and supersedes the Existing Cross Easement in its 
entirety and the Existing Cross Easement shall be of no further force and effect.  

3. Reciprocal Driveway and Sidewalk Easements.   

a. Reciprocal Easement.  Each of the Owners hereby grant, declare, give and 
convey to the other Owners, and their respective tenants, residents, agents, employees, 
customers, visitors, invitees, successors and assigns, as applicable (“Permitted Users”), as 
owners of the Phase 1 Property, the Phase 2 Property and the Shoppes Property, a perpetual, non-
exclusive easement for vehicular and pedestrian ingress and egress appurtenant to the Phase 1 
Property, the Phase 2 Property and the Shoppes Property, over upon and across those portions of 
the Phase 1 Property, the Phase 2 Property and the Shoppes Property which may now be or 
hereafter be improved with and designated as driveways and sidewalks thereon.   

b. Specific Sidewalk Easement.  Phase 2 Owner specifically grants to Phase 
1 Owner and Shoppes Owner, a perpetual non-exclusive easement over, upon and across that 
portion of the Phase 2 Owner Property as depicted on Exhibit F (“Sidewalk Easement”) which 
may be improved and designated as sidewalk.  Phase 1 Owner and Shoppes Owner shall be 
responsible for constructing and maintaining any necessary sidewalk improvements. The 
Sidewalk Easement fulfills a safe egress path requirement and shall provide an unobstructed path 
of travel from the improvements on the Phase 1 Owner and Shoppes Owner Property to the 
paved area of the parking and drive areas on the Phase 2 Owner Property that connect to the 
public street known as Locust Street.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Phase 2 Owner shall have 
the right to use the area covered by the Sidewalk Easement for ingress and egress by vehicles 
and pedestrians and improve the area from time to time so long as the unobstructed path of travel 
requirement for the Phase 1 Owner and Shoppes Owner Property remains satisfied. 

4. No-Build Area.  In order to provide required fire safety separation, Phase 
2 Owner hereby agrees that the portion of the Phase 2 Property as depicted on Exhibit B and 
described on Exhibit C shall be a perpetual no-build area (“No-Build Area”).  No structures of 
any kind may be constructed at any time in the No-Build Area other than landscaping, parking, 
driveway, sidewalk, utilities and storm water management features.  Most of the No-Build Area 
is currently subject to an easement in favor of Franchise Realty Corporation (d/b/a McDonald’s) 
as set forth in document number 1582502 in the Dane County, Wisconsin Registry.  In addition, 
Phase 1 Owner and Shoppes Owner shall have the perpetual right to cross and use the No Build 
Area in order to conduct maintenance activities on the northerly face of improvements on the 
Phase 1 Owner and Shoppes Owner Property.  Phase 1 Owner and Shoppes Owner shall restore 
any areas of the Phase 2 Property that may be disturbed or damaged by Phase 1 Owner and 
Shoppes Owner pursuant to its rights hereunder to its original or better condition. 



3 
4848-8214-4814.2 

5. Sanitary and Stormwater Easement.  Phase 2 Owner hereby grants and 
conveys to Phase 1 Owner and Shoppes Owner, its successors and assigns, a thirty-foot (30) 
wide easement to connect to municipal sanitary and stormwater services as shown on the 
attached Exhibit D (“Sanitary and Stormwater Easement”).  The legal description of the area 
subject to this easement is as described on the attached Exhibit E.  Phase 1 Owner and Shoppes 
Owner shall be solely responsible for the cost of maintenance and repair of the foregoing 
connection to municipal sanitary and stormwater services.  In the event that any such repairs or 
maintenance are deemed necessary, Phase 1 Owner and Shoppes Owner shall provide notice to 
Phase 2 Owner and coordinate such repairs and maintenance to avoid unreasonable impairment 
to the sanitary and stormwater services provided to the Phase 2 Property. 

6. Enforcement.  Enforcement of this Agreement may be by proceedings at 
law or in equity against any person or persons violating or attempting or threatening to violate 
any term or condition in this Agreement, either to restrain or prevent the violation or to obtain 
any other relief.  If a suit is brought to enforce this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be 
entitled to recover its costs, including reasonable attorney fees, from the nonprevailing party. 

7. Maintenance of Property.  Each Owner shall maintain and keep all 
driveways and sidewalks on its respective property free of snow, mud, ice, refuse, garbage, holes 
and breaks in pavement and related matters to allow for vehicular and pedestrian ingress and 
egress and the safe passage of vehicles and pedestrians on such areas as contemplated herein. 

8. Damage.  Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, each 
Owner shall be solely responsible for any and all costs and expenses of repairing damage to any 
easement area proximately caused by such Owner, and its Permitted Users. 

9. Term.  The easements granted and agreements made hereunder shall 
constitute covenants running with the land. 

10. Liens.  Each party retains the right to encumber its property, but any such 
encumbrance created after the effective date hereof shall be subject to this Agreement.  No party 
shall allow any construction or other liens to be made against property owned by another party. 

11. Severability.  All provisions of this Agreement are deemed severable, and 
if any one or more provision is deemed unenforceable for any reason, the remaining provisions 
shall remain in full force and effect. 

12. Amendment or Termination.  This Agreement may be amended or 
terminated only by a document signed by all parties hereto or their respective successors or 
assigns, and duly recorded in the office of the Dane County, Wisconsin Register of Deeds.  

13. Governing Law.  This Agreement shall at all times be governed by and 
enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Wisconsin. 

14. Notice.  All notices and communications to be given under this Agreement 
by any party to any other party shall be in writing and shall be sent, postage prepaid, by certified 
or registered mail, return receipt requested, and shall be deemed given two days after being 
postmarked.  In the alternative, such notices may be delivered personally or transmitted by an 



4 
4848-8214-4814.2 

overnight delivery service.  Notices shall be given to the Owners at the addresses set forth below, 
or such other address as may be provided by the Owners from time to time: 

If to Phase 1 Owner, Phase 2 Owner or Shoppes Owner: 

c/o Flad Development & Investment Corp. 
Attn: John J. Flad 
3330 University Avenue 
Madison, Wisconsin 53705 

15. No Rights in Public; No Implied Easements.  Nothing contained in this 
Agreement, including the grant of easements, shall be deemed to constitute a dedication of any 
property or any portion or portions thereof, to any governmental body, agency or entity, or to the 
general public, or to be construed to create any rights in or for the benefit of any person not a 
party to this Agreement.  No easements, except those expressly set forth herein shall be implied 
by this Agreement. 

16. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement contains the complete understanding 
and agreement of the Owners with respect to all matters referred to herein, and any and all prior 
representations, negotiations and/or understandings are superseded hereby, and the terms of this 
Agreement are contractually binding upon all parties, their successors and assigns.   

17. Insurance.  Each Owner shall procure and maintain in full force and effect 
throughout the term of this Agreement general public liability insurance and property damage 
insurance against claims for personal injury, property damage, bodily injury or death occurring 
upon, in or about its property, with each Owner’s insurance to afford protection to the limit of 
not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence and $2,000,000 in the general aggregate.  Each Owner 
shall provide the other Owner with certificates of insurance from time to time upon request. 

[Signatures Begin on the Following Page.] 



4848-8214-4814.2 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as 
of the date first set forth above. 

PHASE 1 OWNER: 
 
WALNUT GROVE LODGE, LLC 
 
By: Flad Development & Investment Corp. 
Its: Manager 

 
 

By:       
               John J. Flad, President 
 
 
PHASE 2 OWNER: 
 
PYARE LODGE, LLC 
 
By: Flad Development & Investment Corp. 
Its: Manager 

 
 

By:       
               John J. Flad, President 
 

 
SHOPPES OWNER: 
 
WALNUT GROVE SHOPPES, LLC 
 
By: Flad Development & Investment Corp. 
Its: Manager 

 
 

By:       
               John J. Flad, President 
 

[Acknowledgment on following page] 
 



6 
4848-8214-4814.2 

 
 
STATE OF WISCONSIN ) 
    )SS 
COUNTY OF DANE  ) 
 

Personally came before me this _________ day of _______, 2016, the above 
named John J. Flad, to me known to be the President of Flad Development & Investment Corp., 
the Manager of Walnut Grove Lodge, LLC, Pyare Lodge, LLC and Walnut Grove Shoppes, 
LLC, and to me known to be the person who executed the foregoing instrument and 
acknowledged the same. 

        
(Signature) 
 
        
(Printed Name) 
 
Notary Public, ______ County, __________ 
My commission expires:     
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
This instrument was drafted by and after recording should be returned to Katherine R. Rist, 
Foley & Lardner LLP, 150 East Gilman Street, Post Office Box 1497, Madison, Wisconsin  
53701-1497, Telephone: (608) 258-4317



 

A-1 
4848-8214-4814.2 

 
EXHIBIT A 

LEGAL DESCRIPTIONS 
 

PHASE 1 PROPERTY:  
 
Lot Two (2), Certified Survey Map No. 13476 recorded in Vol. 87 of Certified Survey Maps, 
Pages 323-325, as Document No. 4972334, in the Village of Shorewood Hills, Dane County, 
Wisconsin.   
 
Tax Parcel No. 181/0709-173-9872-1 
 
 
SHOPPES PROPERTY: 
 
Lot One (1), Certified Survey Map No. 13476 recorded in Vol. 87 of Certified Survey Maps, 
Pages 323-325, as Document No. 4972334, in the Village of Shorewood Hills, Dane County, 
Wisconsin.   
 
Tax Parcel No.: 181/0709-173-9881-1 
 
 
 
PHASE 1 PROPERTY AND SHOPPES PROPERTY  
TOGETHER FORMERLY KNOWN AS: 
 

 
 



 

4848-8214-4814.2 

 
PHASE 2 PROPERTY:  
 
Lot One (1), Certified Survey Map No. __________  recorded in Vol. ___ of Certified Survey 
Maps, Pages __________, as Document No. ___________, in the Village of Shorewood Hills, 
Dane County, Wisconsin.   
 
Tax Parcel Nos.: 
 
0709-173-0097-6 
0709-173-9811-1 
0709-173-9817-1 
0709-173-9848-1 
 
 
PHASE 2 PROPERTY 
FORMERLY KNOWN AS:   
 

 
 



 

4848-8214-4814.2 

 

 



 

E-1 
4848-8214-4814.2 

EXHIBIT B 
 

NO BUILD AREA 
 

 



 

4848-8214-4814.2 

 
EXHIBIT C 

NO BUILD AREA DESCRIPTION 
 

 



 

4848-8214-4814.2 

EXHIBIT D 
 

SANITARY AND STORMWATER EASEMENT 
 

 



 

4848-8214-4814.2 

 
EXHIBIT E 

 
SANITARY AND STORM WATER EASEMENT DESCRIPTION 

 

 



4848-8214-4814.2 

EXHIBIT F 

SPECIFIC SIDEWALK EASEMENT 



L:\DOCS\006480\002441\DOCS\3987564.DOCX 
0219161604

4812-5536-0814.2 

MUNICIPAL REVENUE OBLIGATION 

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD HILLS 
MUNICIPAL REVENUE OBLIGATION SERIES _________ 

$2,490,000.00 

THIS MUNICIPAL REVENUE OBLIGATION (the “Obligation”) is issued pursuant to 
Wis. Stat. § 66.0621 this _____ day of ______________, 201__ by the Village of Shorewood 
Hills, Dane County, Wisconsin (the “Village”) to Flad Development & Investment Corp., a 
Wisconsin corporation, its successors and assigns (“Developer”). 

WITNESSETH: 

A.  The Village and Developer have entered into a Tax Increment Grant 
Agreement dated ________________________ (the “Development Agreement”). 

B. This Obligation is issued by the Village pursuant to the Development 
Agreement. 

C. Terms that are capitalized in this Obligation that are not defined in this 
Obligation and that are defined in the Development Agreement shall have the meanings 
assigned to such terms by the Development Agreement. 

D. Promise to Pay. The Village shall pay to Developer the principal amount of 
TWO MILLION FOUR HUNDRED NINETY THOUSAND AND 00/100 DOLLARS 
$2,490,000.00, together with interest thereon at a rate of five percent 5% per annum, in 
Scheduled Payments in accordance with Schedule 1 attached hereto and made a part 
hereof, provided however that the amount of any Scheduled Payment installment shall 
not be in excess of the amount of the Excess Tax Increment.  Interest shall accrue 
beginning on the date on which this Obligation is issued. Any payments due on the 
Municipal Revenue Obligation, which are due on any Payment Date, shall be payable 
only to the extent the Village has received the Excess Tax Increment.  To the extent that 
on any Payment Date the amount of Excess Tax Increment received by the Village is 
less than the Scheduled Payment due on such date, such failure shall not constitute a 
default under this Obligation, and the amount of any deficiency in the Scheduled 
Payment shall be deferred and shall be paid with interest at a rate equal to five percent 
(5%) per annum, on the next Payment Date to the extent that it does not exceed the 
Excess Tax Increment received by the Village. In no case, however, shall the term of 
this Obligation and the Village’s obligation to make payments hereunder, extend 
beyond the termination date of the District, (as defined in the Tax Increment Law).  Nor 
shall the Village be obligated to pay any amount not appropriated for such purpose by 
the Village Board. This Obligation shall terminate and the Village’s obligation to make 
any payments under this Obligation shall be discharged, and the Village shall have no 

ATTACHMENT D 
FORM OF MUNICIPAL REVENUE OBLIGATION 



L:\DOCS\006480\002441\DOCS\3987564.DOCX 
0219161604 

4812-5536-0814.2 
2 

obligation and incur no liability to make any payments hereunder, after the termination 
date of the District.  

 
E. Limited Obligation of Village. This Obligation shall not constitute a charge 

against the Village’s general credit or taxing power. The Village shall not be subject to 
any liability hereunder, or be deemed to have obligated itself to pay Developer any 
amounts from any funds to the extent that it would exceed the Excess Tax Increment, 
and then only to the extent and in the manner herein specified.  

 
F. Subject to Annual Appropriations.  Each payment under this Obligation 

shall be subject to annual appropriation by the Village in accordance with the 
requirements for revenue obligations and in a manner approved by the Village’s bond 
counsel and in accordance with the Development Agreement.   

 
G. Prepayment Option.  To satisfy in full the Village’s obligations under this 

Obligation, the Village shall have the right to prepay all or a portion of the outstanding 
principal balance of this Obligation at any time, at par and without penalty. 

 
H. Miscellaneous.  This Obligation is subject to the Tax Increment Law and to 

the Development Agreement. 
 
 

Dated this _______ day of ______________, 201__. 
 

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD HILLS 
 
 
By        
Mark Sundquist, Village President 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
       
Colleen Albrecht, Village Clerk 

 
 
 
Attachment – Schedule 1 
 



L:\DOCS\006480\002441\AGREE\3985274.DOC 
0219161606 

TAX AGREEMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT is entered into as of the _______ 

day of ________________, 2016 (the “Agreement”), by and 

between the Village of Shorewood Hills, a Wisconsin 

municipal corporation (the "Village"), and Pyare Lodge, LLC, 

a Wisconsin limited liability company (the “Owner”). 

RECITALS 

A. Owner is the sole owner of the following 

described property (the "Property") in the Village of 

Shorewood Hills:  

Lot 1 of Certified Survey Map No. ______________, recorded in the 
Office of the Register of Deeds for Dane County, Wisconsin, on 
____________________, as Document No. ______________, in the 
Village of Shorewood Hills, Dane County, Wisconsin.  

B. The Village has enacted Ordinance No. L. 2015-7 (the "Ordinance") changing 

the zoning classification of the Property to a Planned Unit Development, subject to the terms 

and conditions of the Ordinance.   

C. The Ordinance provides that it shall not take effect unless an agreement 

relating to the development of the Property, and preservation of the taxable status of the 

Property that is satisfactory to the Village and the owner of the Property, has been signed by 

all of the owners of the Property and the Village. 

THIS SPACE RESERVED FOR RECORDING DATA 

RETURN TO: 

Matthew P. Dregne 
Stafford Rosenbaum LLP 
P.O. Box 1784 
Madison, WI 53701-1784 
P.I.N. 

ATTACHMENT E 
FORM OF TAX AGREEMENT 



L:\DOCS\006480\002441\AGREE\3985274.DOC 2 
0219161606 

D. Owner and the Village have entered into a Tax Increment Grant Agreement 

(the "Development Agreement"), relating to development of the Property. 

E. Owner and the Village wish to enter into this Agreement concerning 

preservation of the taxable status of the Property.  

F. The Village and other taxing jurisdictions have provided and shall continue to 

provide public health, safety, fire and police protection, streets and street maintenance, snow 

removal, and other governmental services ("Municipal Services") that are funded by property 

taxes. 

AGREEMENT 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the Recitals, and the mutual promises, 

obligations and benefits provided under this Agreement and the Development Agreement, the 

receipt and adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, Owner and the Village agree as 

follows: 

1. Recitals Incorporated.  The recitals stated above are incorporated in this 

Agreement by reference. 

2. Representations and Warranties by Owner.  Owner represents and warrants 

that Owner:  (1) is  organized and existing under the laws of the State of Wisconsin; (2) has 

taken all actions necessary to enter into this Agreement; (3) has duly authorized the 

individual signers of this Agreement to do so; (4) is the sole owner of the Property, in fee 

simple; and (5) the Property is not encumbered by any lien, and that Owner will not allow 



L:\DOCS\006480\002441\AGREE\3985274.DOC 3 
0219161606 

any lien to be placed upon or taken against the Property prior to the recording of this 

Agreement with the Register of Deeds for Dane County.  

3. Tax Status of the Property.  During the term of Tax Incremental District 

No. 5, (a) the Property shall be subject to property taxation and shall not be exempt from 

property taxation, in full or in part, except as required by law; (b) Owner shall take all 

reasonable actions to assure that the Property shall not be exempt from property taxation, in 

full or in part, except as required by law; and (c) Owner shall not submit any request or 

application for property tax exemption of the Property, in full or in part, challenge the status 

of the Property as fully subject to property taxation, or seek any ruling by a court or any 

statutory change that would entitle the Property to exemption, in full or part.  Nothing herein 

shall be construed as preventing Owner from challenging the Property's assessed value or the 

amount of property tax claimed due.  Nothing herein shall be construed as preventing Owner 

from conveying all or part of the Property, subject to the terms and conditions of this 

Agreement. 

4. Payment for Municipal Services If Property Becomes Tax Exempt.  During 

the full term of this Agreement, if in any year (the "Valuation Year") the Property is exempt 

from property taxation, in full or in part, Owner shall pay the Village, as a payment for 

Municipal Services provided by the Village with respect to the Property ("Payment for 

Municipal Services"), the difference between (1) the amount of property taxes, if any, on the 

Property, actually received by the Village from Owner for the Valuation Year, and (2) the 

amount of property taxes on the Property that the Village would have received for the 



L:\DOCS\006480\002441\AGREE\3985274.DOC 4 
0219161606 

Valuation Year if the Property were  fully subject to property taxation.  The Village shall 

send Owner an invoice for the Payment for Municipal Services due. One-half of the Payment 

for Municipal Services shall be due on January 31 of the year after the Valuation Year.  The 

balance of the Payment for Municipal Services shall be due on July 31 of the year after the 

Valuation Year.  Each payment shall be deemed made when actually received by the Village. 

Any amount due that is not paid on time shall bear interest in the same manner and at the 

same rate as provided by law for unpaid property taxes.  The Payment for Municipal Services 

shall constitute payment for Municipal Services provided with respect to the Property during 

the Valuation Year.  The Village and Owner acknowledges and agrees that this Payment for 

Municipal Services would constitute a reasonable and appropriate means of carrying out the 

intent of the parties and would fairly and reasonably compensate the Village for the 

Municipal Services provided during the Valuation Year. 

5. Calculation of Property Taxes as If Property Were Not Exempt.  If, for  

purposes of this Agreement, it becomes necessary to calculate the amount of property taxes 

on the Property that the Village would have received if the Property were fully subject to 

property taxation, this amount shall be calculated as follows:  (1) The fair market value of  

the Property as of January 1 of the Valuation Year shall be determined, in the same manner 

as provided by law for property that is fully taxable, by the Village Assessor or, if the Village 

Assessor is unable or unwilling to do so, by  a competent and impartial appraiser selected by 

the Village in its sole discretion.  (2) The fair market value, as so determined, shall be 

divided by the average assessment ratio for the year for property in the Village, as determined 



L:\DOCS\006480\002441\AGREE\3985274.DOC 5 
0219161606 

by the Wisconsin Department of Revenue.  (3) The resulting amount shall be multiplied by 

the mil rate at which taxable property in the Village is taxed to levy taxes for all taxing 

jurisdictions to which the Property is subject for the Valuation Year.  That amount shall be 

deemed the amount of property taxes on the Property that the Village would have received if 

the Property were fully taxable.  Following the termination of Tax Increment District No. 5, 

the Village shall allocate any Payments for Municipal Services made pursuant to this 

Agreement to all taxing jurisdictions in which the Property is located or to which the Property 

is subject for the Valuation Year, based on each taxing jurisdiction's mil rate. 

6. Binding Effect of Calculation; Dispute Resolution.  The amount of any 

Payment for Municipal Services, determined as provided in this Agreement, shall be binding 

on the parties unless determined to be excessive in an arbitration proceeding conducted in 

accordance with chapter 788, Wisconsin Statutes, or any successor statute, by a single 

arbitrator, chosen by mutual agreement of the Parties or, if they do not agree, by the Circuit 

Court for Dane County, Wisconsin, on application of either party.  The arbitrator shall be an 

assessor or appraiser licensed by the State of Wisconsin with at least ten years experience in 

the valuation of commercial property.  Any demand for arbitration shall be made within thirty 

days after an invoice for Payment of Municipal Services is sent by the Village to Owner.  If a 

demand for arbitration is not made within that time, the parties shall be deemed to have 

waived arbitration.  The non-prevailing party shall pay the costs of arbitration, but each party 

shall be responsible for its own attorneys' fees and expert witness expenses.  Chapter 788, 

Wisconsin Statutes, or any successor statute, shall govern the arbitration proceeding, except 



L:\DOCS\006480\002441\AGREE\3985274.DOC 6 
0219161606 

that Owner and the Village each waive any right to trial by jury.  Any other dispute between 

the parties arising out of, related to, or connected with this Agreement shall be arbitrated in 

the same manner. 

7. Special Assessment If Any Required Payment For Municipal Services Is 

Not Timely Made.  Any Payment for Municipal Services that is not made when due shall 

entitle the Village to levy a special assessment against the Property for the amount due, plus 

interest.  Owner hereby consents to the levy of any such special assessment, and pursuant to 

Wis. Stat. § 66.0703(7)(b), waive any right to notice of or any hearing on any such special 

assessment.   

8. Insurance.  Owner shall maintain insurance coverage on the Property, 

including all improvements, insuring against loss or damage in amounts sufficient to rebuild 

or replace the improvements constructed on the Property. 

9. Indemnification.  Owner shall indemnify the Village for all amounts of 

attorneys' fees and expenses and expert fees and expenses incurred in enforcing this 

Agreement.  This paragraph shall not be applicable to cases where Owner has, in good faith, 

disputed the Village's valuation. 

10. Remedies.  The Village shall have all remedies provided by this Agreement, 

and provided at law or in equity, necessary to cure any default or remedy any damages under 

this agreement.  Remedies shall include, but are not limited to, special assessments under 

section 7 of this Agreement, indemnification under section 9 of this Agreement, and all 

remedies available at law or in equity. 



L:\DOCS\006480\002441\AGREE\3985274.DOC 7 
0219161606 

11. Term of Agreement.  The term of this Agreement shall begin on the date the 

Agreement is signed by both parties, and shall continue until 11:59 p.m. on the first 

December 31 that occurs after the fifty-fourth (54th) anniversary of the date the term begins, 

unless terminated earlier by mutual written agreement. 

12. Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement shall run with the land and is 

binding on the successors and assigns of the parties, including, but not limited to, any 

subsequent owner of the Property, any part of the Property, or any real property interest in the 

Property or any part of the Property.  If at any time the Property has more than one owner, 

any Payment for Municipal Services due under this Agreement for any Valuation Year shall 

be allocated among the owners in proportion to the fair market value of their property 

interests as of January 1 of the Valuation Year, as determined under section 5 of this 

Agreement.  Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything else set forth herein, if Owner shall 

sell or otherwise convey its interest in the Property, Owner shall be deemed released from all 

obligations hereunder and the Village shall look solely to successors in interest for the 

performance of all of the obligations imposed on Owner by this Agreement. 

13. Recording.  This Agreement shall be recorded with the Register of Deeds for 

Dane County as soon as practicable following execution by Owner and the Village. 

14. Entire Agreement; Amendments.  This Agreement encompasses the entire 

agreement of the parties.  Any amendment hereto shall be made in writing, signed by all 

parties.   



L:\DOCS\006480\002441\AGREE\3985274.DOC 8 
0219161606 

15. Severability.  If any part of this Agreement is determined to be invalid or 

unenforceable, the rest of the Agreement shall remain in effect.  

16. Waiver. No waiver of any breach of this Agreement shall be deemed a 

continuing waiver of that breach or a waiver of any other breach of this Agreement. 

17. Interpretation of Agreement.  The parties acknowledge that this Agreement is 

the product of joint negotiations. If any dispute arises concerning the interpretation of this 

Agreement, neither party shall be deemed the drafter of this Agreement for purposes of its 

interpretation.  

18. Notices.  Any notice required to be given under this Agreement shall be 

deemed given when deposited in the United States mail, postage prepaid, to the party at the 

address stated below or when actually received by the party, whichever is first.  The 

addresses are:  

If to Village:  Village Clerk 
Village of Shorewood Hills 
810 Shorewood Boulevard 
Madison, WI 53705 

 
If to Owner:  Pyare Lodge, LLC 

Flad Development & Investment Corp. 
c/o John J. Flad 
3330 University Avenue, Suite 206 
Madison, WI  53705 
 

Addresses may be changed by notice given in the manner provided in this section. 
 



L:\DOCS\006480\002441\AGREE\3985274.DOC 9 
0219161606 

19. Governing Law.  This Agreement has been negotiated and signed in the State 

of Wisconsin and shall be governed, interpreted, and enforced in accordance with the laws  

of the United States and the State of Wisconsin. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date 

first set forth above. 

VILLAGE: 
 
VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD HILLS 
 
 
By       
Mark Sundquist, Village President 
 
 
By       
Colleen Albrecht, Village Clerk 

 
ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

 
STATE OF WISCONSIN 
 
COUNTY OF DANE 
 
 Personally came before me this _______ day of _______________, 2016, the above-
named Mark Sundquist and Colleen Albrecht, to me known to be the persons and officers 
who executed the foregoing instrument and acknowledged the same. 
 
       
Notary Public, State of Wisconsin 
Print Name:      
My Commission:     
 



Document 
Number 

LAND USE 
RESTRICTION 
AGREEMENT  

Document Title 

Recording Area 
Name and Return Address 

Village Clerk 
Village of Shorewood Hills 
810 University Avenue 
Madison, WI  53705 

Parcel Identification Number (PIN) 

_____________________________________ 

This Instrument was drafted by: 

Matthew P. Dregne 
Stafford Rosenbaum LLP 
222 West Washington Avenue, Suite 900 
P.O. Box 1784 
Madison, Wisconsin 53701-1784 
608-256-0226 

ATTACHMENT F 
FORM OF LAND USE RESTRICTION AGREEMENT 



 

  A-1 

LAND USE RESTRICTION AGREEMENT  
 
 
 THIS LAND USE RESTRICTION AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made and 
entered into as of ____________________, 2016, between Pyare Lodge, LLC, a Wisconsin 
limited liability company, (the “Owner”), and the Village of Shorewood Hills, a Wisconsin 
municipal corporation, whose address is 810 Shorewood Boulevard, Madison, Wisconsin 53705 
(the “Village”).  

 
RECITALS 

 
 WHEREAS, the Owner will be the owner of a multifamily rental housing project 
containing 94 rental housing units, known as “Pyare Redevelopment/The Lodge Phase II” and 
located at 4610 University Avenue, located in the Village of Shorewood Hills, Dane County, 
Wisconsin, as more particularly described in Exhibit A attached hereto (the “Property”); 

 
WHEREAS, the Owner has requested that the Village make a tax incremental financing 

grant to the Owner (the “Grant”); and  
 
WHEREAS, as a condition precedent to the making of the Grant, the Village requires that 

the Owner enter into this Agreement; and 
 
WHEREAS, Owner, the Village, and the Wisconsin Housing and Economic Development 

Authority (the “Authority”) have entered into an agreement (the “WHEDA Agreement”) under 
which the Authority will monitor and provide annual reports to the Village and Owner regarding 
Owner’s compliance with this Agreement. 

 
AGREEMENT 

 
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants hereinafter 

set forth, and of other valuable consideration the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby 
acknowledged, the Owner and the Village hereby agree as follows: 

 
ARTICLE 1 

REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS OF THE OWNER 

 The Owner represents, warrants, covenants, and agrees as follows: 
 

1.1 Authority.  The Owner has the full legal right, power and authority to execute 
and deliver this Agreement and to perform all the undertakings of the Owner hereunder. 

1.2 Title to Property.  The Owner has good and marketable title to the Property.   

1.3 Application.  The Owner warrants that all information heretofore supplied by the 
Owner to the Village in connection with the Owner’s request to the Village for the Grant 
(collectively the “Application”) is true and correct in all respects as of the date of the 
Application and, except as otherwise provided to the Village in writing since the date of the 
Application, as of the date hereof.   

 



 

  Page 2 

1.4 Conflicting Agreements.  The Owner has not and shall not execute any other 
agreement with provisions contradictory to, or in opposition to, the provisions hereof, and that in 
any event, the requirements of this Agreement are paramount and controlling as to the rights and 
obligations herein set forth and supersede any other requirements in conflict herewith. 

1.5 Use of the Property.  The Property shall at all times be used as a multifamily 
rental housing project containing 94 rental housing units subject to the restrictions set forth 
herein.  

1.6 Non-Discrimination.  Owner shall comply with all federal, state and local fair 
housing laws, rules and regulations as now or hereafter in effect and shall not discriminate upon 
any basis prohibited by law in the lease, use or occupancy of the Property or in connection with 
the employment or application for employment of persons for the operation and management of 
the Property or refuse to lease a unit to a holder of a voucher or certificate of eligibility under 
Section 8 of the United States Housing Act of 1937 (“Section 8”) because of the status of the 
prospective tenant as such a holder.   

ARTICLE 2  
AFFORDABLE UNITS  

 The Village requires the Project to include a total of eight affordable units on the 
following terms and conditions: 
 

2.1 Occupancy Restrictions. The Property shall at all subsequent times contain no 
fewer than 8 units set aside for occupancy by Qualifying Tenants (such units are hereinafter 
referred to “Affordable Units”).  Except as provided in the last sentence of this Section 2.1, the 
Affordable Units shall include no fewer than 2 one-bedroom units, 1 two-bedroom unit, and 
2 three-bedroom units in the southern building and the Affordable Units shall include no fewer 
than 2 two-bedroom units and 1 one-bedroom unit in the northern building. As used in this 
Agreement, “Qualifying Tenants” means persons or families whose income at the time of initial 
occupancy does not exceed 60% of the Dane County Median Income (“CMI”) as adjusted for 
family size and as published by the United States Department of Housing and Urban 
Development (“HUD”).  If any Affordable Unit is occupied by a Qualifying Tenant at the time 
of initial occupancy, and such Qualifying Tenant’s income should subsequently exceed 140% of 
the applicable income limit, the Owner shall, after such determination of income, rent the next 
available residential unit of comparable size on the Property to another Qualified Tenant. 

2.2 Rent Restrictions.  The Gross Rent for Affordable Units shall not exceed 30% of 
60% of the CMI, as adjusted for family size and as published by HUD; provided that the Imputed 
Income Limitation (as defined in Section 42(g)(2)(C) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 
amended (the “Code”)) shall apply to all Affordable Units.  As used in this Section 2.2, “Gross 
Rent” means the rental charge for an Affordable Unit including any utility allowance determined 
by HUD in accordance with Section 8.  Gross Rent does not include any subsidy payment under 
Section 8 or any comparable rental assistance program (with respect to such unit or the tenant(s) 
thereof), nor does it include any fee for a basis of the low-income status of the tenant(s) of the 
unit by any governmental program of assistance (or by an organization described in Section 
501(c)(3) of the Code and exempt from tax under Section 501(a) of the Code) if such program 
(or organization) provides assistance for rent and the amount of assistance provided for rent is 
not separable from the amount of assistance provided for supportive services.  Gross Rent does 
not include any rental payment to the owner of a unit if the owner pays an equivalent amount to 



 

  Page 3 

the Farmers Home Administration under Section 515 of the Housing Act of 1949 (42 U.S.C. 
1485). 

2.3 Notice to the Village.  Immediately upon discovering any violation of any of the 
covenants, restrictions and representations set forth herein, the Owner shall notify the Village in 
writing of such violation.    

2.4 Monitoring by the Village and the Wisconsin Housing and Economic 
Development Authority.   

(a) The Owner shall permit, during normal business hours and upon 
reasonable notice, but not more than two times in any 12 calendar month time period, any duly 
authorized representative of the Authority or the Village to inspect any books and records of the 
Owner regarding the Project and with respect to the incomes of Qualifying Tenants which 
pertain to compliance with the provisions of this Agreement. 

(b) The Owner shall submit any other information, documents, or 
certifications requested by the Village that the Village may deem reasonably necessary to 
substantiate the Owner’s continuing compliance with the provisions of this Agreement. 

(c) Owner shall comply with the obligations of Owner under the WHEDA 
Agreement.  Owner covenants and agrees to pay “Compliance Monitoring Fees” to the Authority 
as required by the WHEDA Agreement.  

2.5 Evidence of Tenant Income. 

(a) The Owner shall obtain and maintain on file, as a condition to occupancy 
for each person who is intended to be a Qualifying Tenant, an Income Certification in a form 
acceptable to the Authority, which form may change from time to time (“Income 
Certification”).  In addition, the Owner shall obtain from each such person whatever other 
information, documents or certifications are deemed necessary by the Authority to substantiate 
the Income Certification.   

(b) The form of lease to be utilized by the Owner in renting any units in the 
Project to any person who is intended to be a Qualifying Tenant shall provide for termination of 
the lease and consent by such person to immediate eviction for failure to qualify as a Qualifying 
Tenant as a result of any material misrepresentation made by such person with respect to the 
Income Certification or the failure by such tenant to execute an Income Certification.   

(c) Income Certifications shall be maintained and accessible to the Village 
and the Authority with respect to each Qualifying Tenant who resides in a Project unit, and the 
Owner shall, promptly upon request, file a copy thereof with the Village and the Authority. 

ARTICLE 3 
EVENTS OF DEFAULT; REMEDIES; ENFORCEMENT BY VILLAGE 

3.1 Events of Default.  If the Village becomes aware of a violation of any of the 
provisions hereof (an “Event of Default”), it shall give written notice thereof to the Owner 
directing the Owner to remedy the violation within a reasonable specified period of time, but not 
less than 60 days if the remedy requires Owner to evict a tenant.  If the remedy of a claimed 
violation of this Agreement is incapable of being cured within the period of time specified by the 



 

  Page 4 

Village, but Owner has commenced action to cure the violation within a reasonable period of 
time under all the facts and circumstances then existing, the period of time to cure the violation 
shall be extended for that additional number of days reasonably necessary to cure the violation 
under all the facts and circumstances then existing, but in no case longer than 120 days, provided 
Owner continues with reasonable diligence to prosecute such cure to completion.  If any 
violation of this Agreement by the Owner is not corrected to the satisfaction of the Village within 
the period of time specified by the Village in the notice described above, as the same may be 
extended in accordance with the terms of this paragraph, the Village shall have the right, without 
further notice, to declare an event of uncured default (“Event of Uncured Default”) under this 
Agreement. 

3.2 Remedies. 

(a) Upon and after the occurrence of an Event of Uncured Default, the Village 
may institute and prosecute any proceeding at law or in equity to abate, prevent or enjoin any 
such violation, to compel specific performance hereunder, to recover monetary damages, 
together with the costs and expenses of any proceedings for the collection thereof, caused by 
such violation or take any other action available to remedy the violation. No delay in enforcing 
the provisions hereof as to any breach or violation shall impair, damage, or waive the right of 
any party entitled to enforce the same or to obtain relief against or recover for the continuation or 
repetition of such breach or violation or any similar breach or violation thereof at any later time 
or times. 

(b) Upon an Event of Default under section 2.1 or section 2.2 of this 
Agreement, and so long as such default is continuing, Owner shall pay the Village, with respect 
to each Affordable Unit which is the subject of the default, the 100% Non-Compliance Premium.  
The “100 % Non-Compliance Premium” means an amount equal to 100% times the Excess 
Income.  “Excess Income” means, with respect to each Affordable Unit which is the subject of 
the default, the difference between: (a) rent collected by or payable to Owner under the terms of 
any rental or other agreement with Owner and (b) Gross Rent.  Any 100% Non-Compliance 
Premium due the Village (including any prorated amount of the 100% Non-Compliance 
Premium for partial months) shall be remitted to the Village monthly no later than the 20th of 
each month.  The Owner shall prepare and provide the Village with each remittance a schedule 
(with rent roll) supporting the calculation of Excess Income for each Affordable Unit in default 
in reasonably sufficient detail.  Owner acknowledges and agrees that the actual damages likely to 
result from an Event of Default under sections 2.1 or 2.2 of this Agreement are difficult to 
estimate on the date of this Agreement and would be difficult for the Village to prove.  The 
parties intend that Owner’s payment of the 100% Non-Compliance Premium would serve to 
compensate the Village for any breach by Owner of its obligations under sections 2.1 and 2.2 and 
to deter such a breach, and they do not intend for it to serve as punishment for any such breach 
by Owner. This subsection shall in no way limit any other remedies available to the Village 
under this Agreement, at law or in equity. 

(c) Upon an Event of Uncured Default under section 2.1 or section 2.2 of this 
Agreement, and so long as such default is continuing, Owner shall pay the Village, with respect 
to each Affordable Unit which is the subject of the default, the 150% Non-Compliance Premium.  
The “150% Non-Compliance Premium” means an amount equal to 150% times the Excess 
Income.  “Excess Income” means, with respect to each Affordable Unit which is the subject of 
the default, the difference between: (a) rent collected by or payable to Owner under the terms of 
any rental or other agreement with Owner and (b) Gross Rent.  Any 150% Non-Compliance 



 

  Page 5 

Premium due the Village (including any prorated amount of the 150% Non-Compliance 
Premium for partial months) shall be remitted to the Village monthly no later than the 20th of 
each month.  The Owner shall prepare and provide the Village with each remittance a schedule 
(with rent roll) supporting the calculation of Excess Income for each Affordable Unit in default 
in reasonably sufficient detail.  Owner acknowledges and agrees that the actual damages likely to 
result from an Event of Default under sections 2.1 or 2.2 of this Agreement are difficult to 
estimate on the date of this Agreement and would be difficult for the Village to prove.  The 
parties intend that Owner’s payment of the 150% Non-Compliance Premium would serve to 
compensate the Village for any uncured breach by Owner of its obligations under sections 2.1 
and 2.2 and to deter such a breach, and they do not intend for it to serve as punishment for any 
such breach by Owner. This subsection shall in no way limit any other remedies available to the 
Village under this Agreement, at law or in equity.  

(d) In the case of an Event of Default, or if an Event of Uncured Default is 
declared by the Village, Owner agrees to pay or reimburse the Village on demand:  all out-of-
pocket expenses incurred by the Village in connection with the administration, amendment or 
enforcement of this Agreement including the reasonable fees and expenses of the Village’s 
counsel; and all out-of-pocket costs of collection before and after judgment, including in each 
instance, the reasonable fees and expenses of the Village’s counsel (including those incurred in 
the defense or settlement of any claim brought by Owner or incident to any action or proceeding 
involving Owner brought pursuant to the United States Bankruptcy Code). 

3.3 Enforcement by the Village Only.  No person other than the Village or agents 
thereof shall be entitled to enforce this Agreement. 

ARTICLE 4 
TERM OF AGREEMENT 

4.1 Term of Agreement.  The term of this Agreement and the restrictions imposed 
hereby shall become effective immediately (the “Commencement Date”); and shall end on the 
30th anniversary of the Commencement Date. 

4.2 Early Termination.  Notwithstanding Section 4.1 above, this Agreement and the 
restrictions imposed hereby shall terminate in the event of any a) the recording of a written 
instrument by the Village with the Register of Deeds for Dane County releasing Owner and its 
successors from their obligations hereunder; or b) upon the date the Property is acquired by 
foreclosure (or instrument in lieu of foreclosure) unless the Village determines that such 
acquisition is part of an arrangement with the Owner a purpose of which is to terminate the 
restrictions imposed by this Agreement. 

ARTICLE 5 
MISCELLANEOUS 

5.1 Covenants Run With the Land; Successors Bound.  This Agreement shall be 
recorded with the Register of Deeds for Dane County.  This Agreement shall run with the land 
and bind the Owner and its successors and assigns and all subsequent owners of the Property and 
all holders of any other interest therein. 

5.2 Reliance by the Village.  The Owner hereby agrees that the Owner’s 
representations and covenants set forth herein may be relied upon by the Village.  The Village 



 

  Page 6 

may conclusively rely upon statements, certificates, and other information provided by the 
Owner, and upon audits of the books and records of the Owner or the Property. 

5.3 Release.  The Owner hereby releases the Village from any claim, loss, demand, or 
judgment arising out of this Agreement, the making of the Grant, or the exercise in good faith by 
the Village of any rights or remedies granted to the Village under this Agreement. 

5.4 Amendment.  Except as otherwise provided herein, this Agreement shall not be 
amended, revised or terminated prior to the termination of the covenants, representations and 
restrictions provided for herein except by an instrument in writing duly executed by the Village 
and the Owner or their respective successors or assigns and duly recorded. 

5.5 Uniformity.  The provisions of this Agreement shall apply uniformly to the 
Property. 

5.6 Notices.  All notices to be given pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing 
and shall be deemed given when mailed by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, 
to the parties hereto at the addresses set forth below, or to such other place as a party may from 
time to time designate in writing.   

If to the Village: Village Administrator 
   Village of Shorewood Hills 
   810 Shorewood Boulevard 
   Madison, WI  53705 
   Fax:  (608) 266-5929 
 

 With a copy to: Matthew P. Dregne 
 Stafford Rosenbaum LLP 
 222 West Washington Avenue, Suite 900 
 P.O. Box 1784 
 Madison, WI 53701-1784 
 Fax: (608) 259-2600 
 Email:  mdregne@staffordlaw.com 

 
If to the Owner: Pyare Lodge, LLC 

  c/o Flad Development & Investment Corp. 
    3330 University Avenue, Suite 206  

Madison, WI 53705 
  Attn: John J. Flad 
 

With a copy to: Katherine R. Rist 
   Foley & Lardner LLP 
   150 East Gilman Street, Suite 5000 
   Madison, WI 53703-1482    
         

The Village and the Owner may, by notice given hereunder, designate any further or different 
addresses to which subsequent notices, certificates or other communications shall be sent.  If the 
address of the Owner changes from that given above or subsequently designated under the 
previous sentence, the Village may conclusively presume that the address of the Owner for 



Page 7 

purposes of this Section 5.6 is the address to which property tax bills for the Property are 
delivered. 

5.7 Definitions and Interpretation.  Unless the context clearly requires otherwise, 
words of masculine gender shall be construed to include correlative words of the feminine 
gender and vice versa, and words of the singular number shall be construed to include correlative 
words of the plural number and vice versa.  All the terms and provisions hereof shall be 
construed to effectuate the purposes set forth herein and to sustain the validity hereof.  The titles 
and headings of this Agreement have been inserted for convenience of reference only and are not 
to be considered a part hereof and shall not in any way modify or restrict any of the terms or 
provisions hereof and shall not be considered or given any effect in construing this instrument or 
any provision hereof or in ascertaining intent, if any question of intent should arise. 

5.8 Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of 
Wisconsin. 

5.9 Severability.  The invalidity of any clause, part or provision of this Agreement 
shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof.   

5.10 Multiple Counterparts.  This Agreement may be simultaneously executed in 
multiple counterparts, all of which shall constitute one and the same instrument and each of 
which shall be deemed to be an original. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be signed by their 
respective duly authorized representatives, as of the day and year first written above. 

PYARE LODGE, LLC 

By: Flad Development & Investment Corp. 
Its:  Managing Member 

By: _____________________________________ 
John J. Flad, President 

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD HILLS 

By: ___________________________________ 
Mark Sundquist, Village President 

ATTEST: ________________________________ 
Colleen Albrecht, Village Clerk 

[Acknowledgements Follow.] 



 

  Page 8 

 
 

 
ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

 
 
STATE OF WISCONSIN 
 
COUNTY OF DANE 
 
 Personally came before me this _______ day of _______________, 2016, the above-
named Mark Sundquist, Village President and Colleen Albrecht, Village Clerk, to me known to 
be the persons and officers who executed the foregoing instrument and acknowledged the same. 
 
 
       
Notary Public, State of Wisconsin 
Print Name:      
My Commission:      
 
 

 
 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
 

 
STATE OF WISCONSIN 
 
COUNTY OF DANE 
 
 Personally came before me this _______ day of ______________, 2016, the above-named 
John J. Flad, and to me known to be the president of Flad Development & Investment Corp., the 
Managing Member of Pyare Lodge, LLC, who executed the foregoing instrument, and 
acknowledged the same on behalf of said company. 
 
 
       
Print Name:      
Notary Public, State of Wisconsin 
My Commission:     
 



 

  Page 9 

 
 
 

EXHIBIT A 
Legal Description of the Property 

 
 
 
 

Lot One, Certified Survey Map No. ________________, recorded in the Office of the 

Register of Deeds for Dane County, Wisconsin, on ____________________, as 

Document No. __________________, located in the Village of Shorewood Hills, Dane 

County, Wisconsin.  



L:\DOCS\006480\002441\AGREE\3985274.DOC 10 
0219161606 

 
Approved as to form: 
 
____________________________ 
Matthew P. Dregne 
Village Attorney 

 
OWNER: 
 
PYARE LODGE, LLC 
 
By: Flad Development & Investment Corp. 
Its:  Managing Member 
 
 
By        
John J. Flad, President 
 

ACKOWLEDGEMENT 
 
STATE OF WISCONSIN 
 
COUNTY OF DANE 
 
 Personally came before me this _______ day of ______________, 2016, the above-
named John J. Flad, and to me known to be the president of Flad Development & Investment 
Corp., the Managing Member of Pyare Lodge, LLC, who executed the foregoing instrument, 
and acknowledged the same on behalf of said company. 
 
       
Print Name:      
Notary Public, State of Wisconsin 
My Commission:     
 
 
This instrument was drafted by: 
Matthew P. Dregne 
Stafford Rosenbaum LLP 
P.O. Box 1784 
Madison, WI 53701-1784 
608/256-0226 



The Boulevard – 3306-3310 University Avenue 
Marketing Plan 

2016 

1. Applicability and purpose.

This Marketing Plan applies to the advertising and marketing of Affordable Housing Units (“Units”) in 
the development to be constructed and located at 3306-3310 University Avenue, in the Village of 
Shorewood Hills, Wisconsin.  Danford Plaza, LLC will market residential the Units in a manner 
designed to reach persons of diverse financial, racial and ethnic populations, and in accordance with all 
applicable Fair Housing Laws.  In order to meet these objectives, the Units shall be advertised and 
marketed in accordance with this Marketing Plan. 

2. Timing and implementation.

In order to ensure that persons of diverse financial, racial and ethnic populations are timely informed of 
the availability of the Units, the diversity marketing techniques described in Section 3 of this Marketing 
Plan shall be fully implemented before any Units are advertised or marketed using any other advertising 
or marketing techniques, both at the time the Units are initially marketed and leased, and at the time of 
any future vacancy. 

3. Diversity marketing techniques.

A. A notice of all available or vacant Units will be sent to a list of organizations and service
providers representing and aiding minority and low income populations in the Dane 
County area, including but not necessarily limited to the following:  Access to 
Independence, Community Action Coalition, St., Vincent de Paul, Salvation Army, Urban 
League, Madison Community Development Authority, Centro Hispano, the YWCA, The 
Road Home, and Joining Forces for Families. 

B. Available units such advertisements or marketing materials shall be published in print and 
electronic media serving minority and low income populations in the Dane County area, 
including but not necessarily limited to the following:  The Madison Times, Capital City 
Hues, La Communidad.   

C. The Dane County Housing Authority will be contacted on a regular basis with lists of 
upcoming vacancies for their current voucher holders. 

ATTACHMENT G 
APPROVED MARKETING PLAN 



D. Advertisements shall be in both English and Spanish languages in publications that have a 
dual language presence such as La Communidad and Craigslist.  Other marketing material 
may be provided in Spanish upon request.   

E. All web-based or other advertising or marketing of affordable Units shall provide rental 
rate information in a readily accessible manner. 

F. The Equal Housing Opportunity slogan shall be used with all advertising and notices. 

G. The Fair Housing Poster shall be displayed in all offices where applications are accepted 
and leases signed. 

4. Marketing Records.  Records of all advertising and notices shall be kept for not less than three
years. 

5. Marketing tracking.  The source of the applicant’s knowledge of the vacancy will be tracked in
the application and inquiry process.

Marketing Sources 

1) Property Website
2) Direct Mailers to social agencies
3) Facebook / Social Media
4) Madison Apartment Living or similar rental guide
5) The Madison Times, Capital City Hues, La Communidad.
6) CD Living
7) Craigslist
8) Rentals.com or similar website



4849-1535-1342.1 

Document Number 

EASEMENT AGREEMENT 

Title 

THIS EASEMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) 
is made and entered into as of the ___ day of _________, 2016 
(the “Effective Date”), by and between PYARE LODGE, LLC, a 
Wisconsin limited liability company (“Owner”), and the 
VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD HILLS (“Village”).  Owner and 
Village are sometimes hereinafter referred to individually as a 
“Party” and collectively as the “Parties”. 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, Owner owns the real property 
commonly known as 4610 University Avenue, in the Village of 
Shorewood Hills, Wisconsin, and legally described on Exhibit A 
(the “Property”) attached hereto and incorporated herein by 
reference;  

Name and Return Address: 
Katherine R. Rist 
Foley & Lardner LLP 
150 East Gilman Street 
P.O. Box 1497 
Madison, Wisconsin  53701-1497 

Parcel Identification Numbers 
WHEREAS, Owner intends to construct a residential housing project (the 

“Project”) on the Property; 

WHEREAS, as shown on the site plan attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “Site 
Plan”), Owner and Village intend that, as part of the construction of the Project, Owner intends 
to construct certain sidewalks throughout the Project (the “Sidewalks”) and install playground 
equipment on the northern portion of the Property (the “Playground”), in the approximate 
locations shown on the Site Plan;  

WHEREAS, pursuant to and in compliance with Section D(3) of that certain Tax 
Increment Grant Agreement, dated _____________, 2016 (the “Development Agreement”) 
with respect to the Property, Owner wishes to grant Village certain easements over the Property, 
and the Parties wish to set forth their respective rights and responsibilities with respect to the 
easements in this Agreement. 

AGREEMENT 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and other good and 
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the 
Parties agree as follows: 

1. Incorporation of Recitals and Compliance with Development Agreement.
The above recitals are true and correct and form a material part of this Agreement upon which 
the Parties have relied.  The Parties hereby acknowledge and agree that this Agreement has been 
made pursuant to and in compliance with Section D(3) of the Development Agreement. 

ATTACHMENT H 
VILLAGE EASEMENT AGREEMENT 



2. Grant of Easements.

a. Sidewalk Easement.  Upon completion of construction of the
Project, Owner hereby grants and conveys to Village a permanent, non-exclusive easement (the 
“Sidewalk Easement”) appurtenant to the Property, for the purposes of pedestrian, bicycle, and 
other non-motorized vehicular access, ingress and egress on, over, upon, through and across the 
Sidewalks, as modified from time to time, to the Playground.  Nothing in this Agreement shall 
limit Owner’s right to construct additional pathways or walkways throughout the Project (each, 
an “Additional Path”) connecting to the Sidewalks although the Sidewalk Easement created by 
this Section 2(a) shall not apply to any Additional Path.  Owner, at Owner’s sole cost and 
expense, shall construct the Sidewalks and shall maintain, repair and replace the Sidewalks, 
including the removal of snow and ice therefrom in accordance with the Village’s then current 
standards for snow and ice removal on sidewalks adjacent to other lots or parcels in the Village, 
currently described in Section 11.06 of the Village Code.  If Owner fails to remove snow and ice 
in accordance with the Village’s standards for snow and ice removal, the Village may cause the 
snow or ice to be removed, and may assess the cost against the Property as a special charge in 
accordance with the provisions of Wis. Stat. § 66.0627, or as such statute may be amended. From 
time to time, Owner shall have the right, but not the obligation to relocate the Sidewalks and 
shall provide the Village with thirty (30) days written notice in advance of the date of the 
commencement of any such relocation.  In the event the Sidewalks are relocated by Owner in 
accordance with this Section 2(a), Owner and Village shall execute and record an amendment to 
this Agreement setting forth the new location of the Sidewalks.  Owner reserves the right to use 
the Sidewalks for any and all purposes which do not interfere with the rights granted herein.  
Neither Party shall take any action to prevent the other Party’s enjoyment of the right to use the 
Sidewalks as provided herein.   

b. Playground Easement.  Upon completion of construction of the
Project, Owner hereby grants and conveys to Village, a permanent, non-exclusive easement 
appurtenant to the Property for use and enjoyment of the Playground equipment to be installed 
thereon (the “Playground Easement”), during daylight hours and subject to such reasonable 
rules and regulations and as Owner may determine are applicable for all users of the Playground. 
From time to time, Owner shall have the right, but not the obligation to relocate the Playground 
and shall provide the Village with thirty (30) days written notice in advance of the date of the 
commencement of any such relocation.  In the event the Playground is relocated by Owner in 
accordance with this Section 2(b), Owner and Village shall execute and record an amendment to 
this Agreement setting forth the new location of the Playground.  Owner reserves the right to use 
the Playground for any and all purposes which do not interfere with the rights granted herein. 
Neither Party shall take any action to prevent the other Party’s enjoyment of the right to use the 
Playground as provided herein. 

3. Reasonable Use.  Owner and Village shall use, and take reasonable
measures to cause their respective tenants, agents, employees, and invitees to use the Playground 
and the Sidewalks in a reasonable manner and not obstruct or otherwise use the Path in a manner 
which would interfere with the other Party’s use thereof. 

4. Enforcement.  Enforcement of this Agreement may be by proceedings at
law or in equity against any person or persons violating or attempting or threatening to violate 



any term or condition in this Agreement, either to restrain or prevent the violation or to obtain 
any other relief.  If a suit is brought to enforce this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be 
entitled to recover its costs, including reasonable attorney fees, from the nonprevailing party. 

5. Term.  Except as otherwise provided herein, the easements granted and
agreements made hereunder shall constitute covenants running with the land and shall be 
perpetual.  The easements granted herein are intended to be appurtenant to, and transferable with 
the Property.   

6. Liens.  Owner retains the right to encumber the Property, but any such
encumbrance created after the effective date hereof shall be subject to this Agreement.  Village 
shall not allow any liens to be made against the Property. 

7. Severability.  All provisions of this Agreement are deemed severable, and
if any one or more provision is deemed unenforceable for any reason, the remaining provisions 
shall remain in full force and effect. 

8. Amendment or Termination.  This Agreement may be amended or
terminated only by a document signed by all parties hereto or their respective successors or 
assigns, and duly recorded in the office of the Dane County, Wisconsin Register of Deeds.  

9. Governing Law.  This Agreement shall at all times be governed by and
enforced in accordance with the laws of the state of Wisconsin. 

10. Notice.  All notices and communications to be given under this Agreement
by any Party to any other Party shall be in writing and shall be sent, postage prepaid, by certified 
or registered mail, return receipt requested, and shall be deemed given two days after being 
postmarked.  In the alternative, such notices may be delivered personally or transmitted by an 
overnight delivery service.  All notices and communications shall be given to the Parties at the 
following addresses: 

In the case of Owner: Pyare Lodge, LLC 
c/o Flad Development & Investment Corp. 
3330 University Avenue, Suite 206 
Madison, WI  53705 
Attn: John J. Flad 

With a copy to: Foley & Lardner LLP 
150 E. Gilman Street 
Madison, WI  53703 
Attn: Katherine R. Rist 

In the case of the Village: Village Administrator 
Village of Shorewood Hills 
810 Shorewood Boulevard 
Madison, WI  53705 



With a copy to: Stafford Rosenbaum LLP 
222 W. Washington Ave, Suite 900 
P.O. Box 1784 
Madison, WI 53701 
Attn: Matthew P. Dregne 

11. No Rights in Public; No Implied Easements.  Nothing contained in this
Agreement, including the grant of easements, shall be deemed to constitute a dedication of the 
Property, or any portion or portions thereof, to any governmental body, agency or entity, or to 
the general public.  No easements, except those expressly set forth herein shall be implied by this 
Agreement. 

12. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement contains the complete understanding
and agreement of the Parties with respect to all matters referred to herein, and any and all prior 
representations, negotiations and/or understandings are superseded hereby, and the terms of this 
Agreement are contractually binding upon all parties, their successors and assigns.   

[Signatures Start on Following Page] 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement as of the 
date first set forth above. 

PYARE LODGE, LLC 

BY:  Flad Development & Investment Corp. 
Its:    Managing Member 

By:  
        John J. Flad, President 

STATE OF WISCONSIN 

COUNTY OF DANE 

Personally came before me this _________ day of ____________, 2016, the above 
named John J. Flad, to me known to be President of Flad Development & Investment Corp., the 
Managing Member of Pyare Lodge, LLC, and to me known to be the person who executed the 
foregoing instrument and acknowledged the same. 

(Signature) 

(Printed Name) 
Notary Public, State of Wisconsin 
My commission expires:  

[Signatures Continue on Following Page] 



4849-1535-1342.1 

VILLAGE OF SHOREWOOD HILLS 
Dane County, Wisconsin 

By:  
Mark Sundquist, Village President 

Attest: 
Colleen Albrecht, Village Clerk 

STATE OF WISCONSIN 

COUNTY OF DANE 

Personally came before me this _________ day of ________, 2016, the above 
named Mark Sundquist and Colleen Albrecht the Village President and Village Clerk, both of the 
Village of Shorewood Hills, to me known to be the persons who executed the foregoing 
instrument and acknowledged the same. 

(Signature) 

(Printed Name) 

Notary Public, State of Wisconsin 
My commission expires:  

This instrument was drafted by and after recording should be returned to Katherine R. Rist, 
Foley & Lardner LLP, 150 East Gilman Street, Madison, Wisconsin  53703, Telephone: (608) 
258-4317 



A-1 
4849-1535-1342.1 

Exhibit A 

The Property 

. 



B-1 
4849-1535-1342.1 

Exhibit B 

SITE PLAN 



$
$
$

1.75

75.00

94

97,760

$ 470,000
s 1s.5t3.960

3,E50,000
1,300,000
1,085,000

980,000

5.00%

o.ool

Rste Residential Rent sf/mo. (Yeâr 1)

Residential Rent sf/mo- (Year 1)

Pâlk¡ru Spaces

Operet¡ng Expenæs

yearw€ñcy - Ros

sf (Res¡dentbl)

wlu€ (ìnleÌoñ rât6)
Râte Resídentiål Units

Rês¡dêntiål Units

bnd Aquistion

Cosb

Fæ (defered êquity)

Pyare Square - "Common Ground" Scenar¡o - Aftordable Units, IOOV' flF,1.25% 
^nnual 

Rent Growth, Construct¡on Managemeni Fee

Prepared by Vandewalle & Associates, lnc.
Confidential Draft 1 1.4.15

Footnotes:

* CapiÞlized rental incomê losss a.€ iñcluded only in the €lculât¡on of nece$€ry TIF assisþnæ, and are not conside€d proj€d æsb forthe pu.poses of êquity and debt lnancing.

€tio (tobl pdv€te cost)

980,000
470,000

21

þ.49"/

R6nt Rêdudion*

ratio (totâl prcjed cost)

Unib -

Prg.1 of 2

  ATTACHMENT I
DEVELOPER's MARKET RATE PROJECTION



n¡ts, 100% flF, 1.25olo Annual RentC

Footnot€s:

* Capihlized rentalincome lo$es ¿rc inclu(
**Affordâblo uniis includ€ a tobl across botl

Pâ9.2 o¡ 2































Incident # Incident Date Time Incident Location Incident Type Units Assigned
15-214931 7/1/2015  8:05:23 PM 4020 University AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 False alarm or false call, other E9
15-215481 7/2/2015  9:09:08 AM 2880 UNIVERSITY AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 

with injury
M9

15-218404 7/4/2015  1:51:41 PM 1008 SHOREWOOD BLVD  Shorewood Hills  
53705

EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

M9,E9

15-220192 7/5/2015  7:18:50 PM 4200 University AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 Unintentional transmission of alarm, 
other

E9

15-221648 7/6/2015  11:44:02 PM 3611 SUNSET DR  Shorewood Hills  53705 Electrical  wiring/equipment 
problem, other

M9,C31,L2,L1,E3,E4,E9

15-222753 7/7/2015  8:00:58 PM 3310 UNIVERSITY AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 Alarm system sounded due to 
malfunction

E9

15-228803 7/12/2015  12:05:34 PM 1105 SHOREWOOD BLVD  Shorewood Hills  
53705

Smoke detector activation due to 
malfunction

E9

15-234372 7/16/2015  5:02:31 PM  University Ave / Shorewood BLVD  Shorewood 
Hills  53705

EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

M2,E9

15-241952 7/22/2015  3:06:55 PM 1105 SHOREWOOD BLVD  Shorewood Hills  
53705

EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

M9,E9,E9

15-243565 7/23/2015  6:34:55 PM 3404 CIRCLE CLOSE   Shorewood Hills  53705 Detector activation, no fire - 
unintentional

E9

15-246960 7/26/2015  3:28:59 AM 905 COLUMBIA RD  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

M9,E9

15-248629 7/27/2015  4:04:27 PM 2725 MARSHALL CT  Shorewood Hills  53705 False alarm or false call, other E9
15-250517 7/29/2015  1:07:44 AM 2820 Marshall CT  Shorewood Hills  53705 Smoke detector activation due to 

malfunction
E9

15-256212 8/2/2015  12:20:57 PM 900 UNIVERSITY BAY DR  Shorewood Hills  
53705

Local alarm system, malicious false 
alarm

E9,E9

15-256296 8/2/2015  1:50:58 PM 3682 LAKE MENDOTA DR  Shorewood Hills  
53705

EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

E9,E9,M2

15-259945 8/5/2015  10:32:11 AM 2880 UNIVERSITY AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

M9,M64R

15-261624 8/6/2015  1:38:12 PM 800 University Bay DR  Shorewood Hills  53705 Rescue or EMS standby M2,E4

15-261851 8/6/2015  4:11:53 PM 2880 UNIVERSITY AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

M9

15-263220 8/7/2015  3:49:20 PM 2880 UNIVERSITY AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

M9

15-264939 8/8/2015  11:12:02 PM 3316 BLACKHAWK DR  Shorewood Hills  53705 False alarm or false call, other E9

15-265209 8/9/2015  4:18:24 AM 3533 BLACKHAWK DR  Shorewood Hills  53705 Hazardous condition, other E9

15-265556 8/9/2015  1:53:25 PM 1015 OAK WAY  Shorewood Hills  53705 Lock-out E9,E4,E9



15-267059 8/10/2015  6:24:28 PM 1240 DARTMOUTH RD  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

M9,E4,E8,E9

15-267892 8/11/2015  1:14:56 PM 3650 UNIVERSITY AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 Good intent call, other M9,E9,E9

15-269160 8/12/2015  12:25:36 PM 3310 UNIVERSITY AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 False alarm or false call, other E4,L1

15-276873 8/18/2015  11:19:58 AM 1244 DARTMOUTH RD  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

E9,M5

15-276969 8/18/2015  12:29:19 PM 2880 UNIVERSITY AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

M7

15-280194 8/20/2015  10:11:58 PM 1675 HIGHLAND AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 Alarm system activation, no fire - 
unintentional

M9,L2,L1,E4,E9,C31,E1

15-282548 8/22/2015  4:15:21 PM 3700 UNIVERSITY AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

M9,E9,E9,M5

15-286126 8/25/2015  2:52:26 PM 1214 EDGEHILL DR  Shorewood Hills  53705 L1
15-287214 8/26/2015  1:14:53 PM 3452 CRESTWOOD DR  Shorewood Hills  53705 Alarm system activation, no fire - 

unintentional
E9

15-291394 8/29/2015  4:20:24 PM 900 UNIVERSITY BAY DR  Shorewood Hills  
53705

Local alarm system, malicious false 
alarm

E9,E9

15-295351 9/1/2015  2:26:59 PM 1105 SHOREWOOD BLVD  Shorewood Hills  
53705

Smoke detector activation, no fire - 
unintentional

E9

15-295562 9/1/2015  4:34:01 PM  University Ave / Ridge ST  Shorewood Hills  
53705

No incident found on arrival at 
dispatch address

M2,E9

15-295612 9/1/2015  4:59:25 PM  University Ave / Ridge ST  Shorewood Hills  
53705

EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

M9,E9

15-295865 9/1/2015  8:00:40 PM 2715 Marshall CT  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

M6,E9

15-298023 9/3/2015  12:28:00 PM  University Bay Dr / University AVE  Shorewood 
Hills  53705

Motor vehicle accident with injuries M9,E1

15-301201 9/5/2015  3:00:05 PM 3650 UNIVERSITY AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

M9,E9,E9

15-303222 9/7/2015  2:14:08 AM 3606 BLACKHAWK DR  Shorewood Hills  53705 False alarm or false call, other E9,E9

15-304626 9/8/2015  12:09:29 PM 4200 University AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 Assist police or other governmental 
agency

M7,E4

15-304665 9/8/2015  12:33:01 PM 2880 UNIVERSITY AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

M6,M2

15-305012 9/8/2015  4:46:51 PM 3443 EDGEHILL PKWY  Shorewood Hills  53705 Smoke detector activation, no fire - 
unintentional

E9

15-306851 9/10/2015  12:40:12 AM  UNIVERSITY AVE / MARSHALL CT  Shorewood 
Hills  53705

EMS call, party transported by non-
fire agency

E9,M9,E9

15-306961 9/10/2015  6:13:39 AM 3650 UNIVERSITY AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

M9,E9,E9



15-312341 9/14/2015  11:10:21 AM 3600 UNIVERSITY AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 Alarm system activation, no fire - 
unintentional

E9

15-312714 9/14/2015  3:55:45 PM 3546 LAKE MENDOTA DR  Shorewood Hills  
53705

EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

E9,M9

15-313596 9/15/2015  10:53:43 AM 4020 University AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

E9,M9

15-315471 9/16/2015  4:43:18 PM 2880 UNIVERSITY AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

M2

15-316747 9/17/2015  3:50:10 PM 2880 UNIVERSITY AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

M7

15-316848 9/17/2015  4:47:38 PM 2880 UNIVERSITY AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

M9

15-317472 9/18/2015  4:52:19 AM 2840 UNIVERSITY AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 Smoke detector activation, no fire - 
unintentional

E9

15-319900 9/19/2015  6:08:50 PM  University Ave / Highbury RD  Shorewood Hills  
53705

Chemical spill or leak E9

15-323034 9/22/2015  11:04:26 AM 2880 UNIVERSITY AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

L1,M9

15-324465 9/23/2015  11:59:23 AM 3650 UNIVERSITY AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

E9,M9

15-326643 9/24/2015  11:03:36 PM 2822 Marshall CT  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

E9,M9

15-327631 9/25/2015  5:09:42 PM 939 UNIVERSITY BAY DR  Shorewood Hills  
53705

False alarm or false call, other E9

15-328491 9/26/2015  10:57:31 AM 4000 University AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 False alarm or false call, other E9
15-330995 9/28/2015  10:46:48 AM 1123 OAK WAY  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 

with injury
M2,E9

15-331143 9/28/2015  12:44:18 PM 2822 Marshall CT  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

E9,M9

15-333508 9/30/2015  9:49:29 AM 800 UNIVERSITY BAY DR  Shorewood Hills  
53705

EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

E9,M9



Incident # Incident Date Time Incident Location Incident Type Units Assigned
15-334516 10/1/2015  2:41:35 AM 3300 LAKE MENDOTA DR  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 

with injury
E9,M9

15-334966 10/1/2015  1:34:00 PM 2880 UNIVERSITY AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

L1,M9

15-337524 10/3/2015  11:22:13 AM 3650 UNIVERSITY AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 False alarm or false call, other E9,M9
15-342066 10/7/2015  8:28:05 AM 2880 UNIVERSITY AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 

with injury
M9,E9

15-350207 10/13/2015  7:32:00 PM 3700 UNIVERSITY AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

E9,M9

15-352325 10/15/2015  2:26:16 PM 3650 UNIVERSITY AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 False alarm or false call, other L1
15-352520 10/15/2015  4:25:04 PM  University Ave / Joyce Erdman PL  Shorewood Hills  

53705
Motor vehicle accident with injuries E9,M9

15-355685 10/18/2015  12:28:30 AM  EDGEHILL DR / BLACKHAWK DR  Shorewood Hills  
53705

Assist police or other governmental 
agency

E9,M9

15-361233 10/22/2015  3:32:54 PM  Bowdoin Rd / Amherst DR  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

E4,M1

15-363697 10/24/2015  3:35:18 PM 3700 UNIVERSITY AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

E9,M2,E9

15-366471 10/27/2015  6:07:53 AM 2880 UNIVERSITY AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 False alarm or false call, other E9
15-367309 10/27/2015  7:21:18 PM 2880 UNIVERSITY AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 

with injury
M9

15-367794 10/28/2015  9:57:35 AM 2880 UNIVERSITY AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

M9

15-368874 10/29/2015  8:10:25 AM 3212 TOPPING RD  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

E9,M2,E9

15-373998 11/2/2015  4:34:14 AM 3212 TOPPING RD  Shorewood Hills  53705 Assist invalid E9,M9
15-374641 11/2/2015  3:02:05 PM 3310 UNIVERSITY AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 Good intent call, other E9,E9
15-374714 11/2/2015  3:55:43 PM 3310 University AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 Good intent call, other E9,E9
15-377259 11/4/2015  5:16:52 PM 2727 MARSHALL CT  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 

with injury
M2,M5,E9

15-377497 11/4/2015  9:02:18 PM 3206 LAKE MENDOTA DR  Shorewood Hills  53705 Smoke detector activation due to 
malfunction

E9

15-379299 11/6/2015  12:11:45 PM 2880 UNIVERSITY AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

M9

15-382234 11/9/2015  7:35:51 AM 3310 UNIVERSITY AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 Gas leak (natural gas or LPG) E9
15-384696 11/11/2015  9:56:22 AM 2715 Marshall CT  Shorewood Hills  53705 Detector activation, no fire - 

unintentional
E9,E9

15-386842 11/13/2015  2:21:19 AM 3510 SUNSET DR  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

E9,M9

15-394100 11/19/2015  10:32:10 AM 2822 Marshall CT  Shorewood Hills  53705 No incident found on arrival at dispatch 
address

E9,M9



15-394123 11/19/2015  10:57:58 AM 4010 UNIVERSITY AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 No incident found on arrival at dispatch 
address

E9,M9

15-395712 11/20/2015  2:45:11 PM 2880 UNIVERSITY AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

M9,E9,E9

15-395766 11/20/2015  3:35:54 PM 2913 COLUMBIA RD  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

M9,E9

15-396988 11/21/2015  1:27:13 PM  University Ave / Shorewood BLVD  Shorewood Hills  
53705

Motor vehicle accident with injuries E9,M9,M2,M10

15-397928 11/22/2015  11:03:27 AM 3121 OXFORD RD  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

M2,E9

15-400354 11/24/2015  3:44:06 PM 2880 UNIVERSITY AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

M9

15-401028 11/25/2015  8:08:31 AM 1675 HIGHLAND AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 False alarm or false call, other E9,E4,E12,F19,M9,L1,L2,C31
15-403093 11/27/2015  1:15:23 PM 2880 UNIVERSITY AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 

with injury
M1,M2

15-405799 11/30/2015  9:33:35 AM 3212 TOPPING RD  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

E9,M6

15-407982 12/2/2015  8:41:26 AM 2880 UNIVERSITY AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

M9

15-416404 12/9/2015  1:49:27 PM 4020 UNIVERSITY AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 No incident found on arrival at dispatch 
address

M9,E9

15-418422 12/11/2015  3:09:04 AM 923 CORNELL CT  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

E9,M9

15-419320 12/11/2015  8:37:20 PM 2800 UNIVERSITY AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

E9,M2

15-429576 12/20/2015  11:38:23 PM 2820 Marshall CT  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

E9,M9

15-431662 12/22/2015  7:50:31 PM 2820 Marshall CT  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

E9,M9

15-432555 12/23/2015  3:44:04 PM 2880 UNIVERSITY AVE  Shorewood Hills  53705 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident 
with injury

M10

15-433525 12/24/2015  3:07:17 PM 2800 Marshall CT  Shorewood Hills  53705 Smoke detector activation, no fire - 
unintentional

E9

15-434632 12/25/2015  10:28:19 PM  Oxford Rd / University Bay DR  Shorewood Hills  
53705

Motor vehicle accident with injuries M9,E4



 1
 

Minutes of the Finance Committee 
Village of Shorewood Hills 
Wednesday, February 17, 2016 

(scheduled for review at the next Finance Committee meeting) 
 

1. Called to Order at 5:33p.m.: 
A. Roll Call: Committee Members Present: Chair/Village Trustee Dave 

Benforado, Village Treasurer Sean Cote, Dave Ahmann, Gard Strother and 
Karl Wellensiek.  Village President Mark Sundquist and Carl Gulbrandsen 
were excused. 

B. Others Present: Village Administrator Karl Frantz, Village Clerk Cokie 
Albrecht and Vicki Hellenbrand (Baker Tilly). 

 
2. Meeting Notice: D.Benforado inquired and K.Frantz confirmed that the meeting had 

been properly posted in compliance with open meeting laws. 
 

3. Approval of Prior Meeting Minutes:  the Committee reviewed the draft minutes 
from the October 21, 2015, Finance Committee meeting.  Motion to approve the 
minutes by G.Strother, second by K.Wellensiek.  Motion passed (5-0). 

 
4. Progress report on Village Water Utility rate case pending at the PSC: 

V.Hellenbrand provided an update on the Village’s water utility rate case that is 
pending at the Public Service Commission: 
- Revenue Requirement: while Commission staff have reviewed and approved the 

revenue requirement portion of the rate case, the fire hydrant rental/fire protection 
fee component has become problematic; 

- Fire Protection Fee: The fire protection fee is paid annually by the Village 
general fund to the water utility.  The fire protection fee is based on two premises: 
(1) that municipal water systems are designed and sized to allow fire crews to 
fight fires; had they been designed and sized just for the distribution of water for 
people to use in their homes, the system would be much less robust, the pipes 
much smaller; and (2) the cost of providing a water system capable of fighting 
fires should be borne by all property tax payers, not all water utility customers. 
The fire protection fee is calculated based on a formula, and due to the fact that 
the Village has installed so many new water pipes in the Village (not modifying 
the size, just replacing fully depreciated 50-100 year old water pipes with new 
pipes), PSC staff initially calculated the fire protection fee to practically double 
(from $100K to $200K).  This magnitude of an impact would be tough for the 
Village general fund to absorb because of State imposed levy limits.  PSC staff 
engaged in a second round of calculations and was able to reduce to fire 
protection fee increase to $50K (i.e., up from $100K/yr to $150/yr).  Hellenbrand 
opined that $50K increase was still unreasonably high for a municipality the size 
of Shorewood Hills to absorb, and that she was exploring other ways to reduce it; 

The Committee asked Hellenbrand to keep advocating the case on behalf of the 
Village, and to report back when more is known.  No Committee action was taken. 
 

5. Discussion and possible recommendations on purchase of Village accounting 
software: K.Frantz distributed a staff memo dated Feb. 17, 2016, recommending the 



 
 

2

purchase of new Clarity accounting software from Civic Systems.  Frantz also 
distributed an unsigned copy of the $39K Civic Systems contract for the purchase of 
the new Clarity accounting software and various additional modules.  Frantz 
explained that: 

- existing Classic accounting software has been used by the Village for 16 year 
and is no longer being supported; 

- Clarity accounting software is the best product available on the market that 
meets the Village’s needs; there are other products (e.g., Banyon, Workhorse, 
Quickbooks) that are less expensive, but they do not meet the Village’s needs; 

- $39K cost will be paid to Civic Systems over a three year period ($13K/yr); 
- Village Capital Plan and 2015 borrowing underestimated the cost at $20K; 
- since the new Clarity software uses a SQL data base rather than an Access 

database, the latter having security concerns, this new software will eliminate 
the auditor’s comments that appear every year in the audit management letter 
regarding the security concerns of the Village using  accounting software 
based on Access database; 

- big plus will be that water and sewer utility bills will now be able to made via 
ACH;and 

- increase in the annual Village support costs of $1.5K. 
Motion by G.Strother, second by K.Wellensiek to recommend to the Village 
Board that the purchase of the Civic Systems Clarity software accounting 
package be authorized and approved, to be paid for according to the specified 
terms in the contract.  Motion passed 5-0. 
 

6. Future Meeting Dates: the Committee reviewed and agreed to the following meeting 
dates: 
A. March 16 (5:30 pm). 
B. April 13 (5:30 pm). 
C. May 11 (5:30 pm). 

 
7. Adjourned: at 6:31 p.m. 

 
Respectfully submitted by Dave Benforado on February 19, 2016. 
















	Feb 22 6Bii a Street Use Permit-Apr 2.pdf
	Street Use Permit-April 2.pdf
	Pi Mile Run Map-April 2.pdf

	Feb 22 6Bii b Street Use Permit-Apr 9.pdf
	Street Use Permit-Poker Run-Apr 9.pdf
	Poker Run Map-April 9.pdf

	Feb 22 6Dv Resolution & Tax Agreement Lodge II.pdf
	Resolution Approving TIGA.PDF.pdf
	Summary of Main Elements.pdf
	3993562-Tax Increment Grant Agreement w  Exhibits (Feb 19).PDF.pdf
	exhibit b
	Exchibit C
	exhibit e
	ATTACHMENT D
	lura
	g




<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice




